Published in "Journal of Optics 18(9): 093001, 2016" which should be cited to refer to this work.

Roadmap on quantum optical systems

Rainer Dumke^{1,2,12}, Zehuang Lu³, John Close⁴, Nick Robins⁴, Antoine Weis⁵, Manas Mukherjee^{2,6}, Gerhard Birkl⁷, Christoph Hufnagel², Luigi Amico^{2,8,9}, Malcolm G Boshier¹⁰, Kai Dieckmann², Wenhui Li^{2,6} and Thomas C Killian¹¹

¹ Division of Physics and Applied Physics, School of Physical and Mathematical Sciences, Nanyang Technological University, 21 Nanyang Link, Singapore 637371, Singapore

² Centre for Quantum Technologies, National University of Singapore, 3 Science Drive 2, 117543 Singapore

³ MOE Key Laboratory of Fundamental Quantities Measurement, School of Physics, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430074, People's Republic of China

⁴ Quantum Sensors and Atomlaser Lab, Department of Quantum Science, Australian National University, Canberra 0200, Australia

⁵ Physics Department, University of Fribourg, Chemin du Musée 3, CH-1700 Fribourg, Switzerland

⁶Department of Physics, National University Singapore, Singapore 117542, Singapore

⁷ Institute of Applied Physics, Technische Universität Darmstadt, Schlossgartenstr. 7, Darmstadt, Germany

⁸ CNR-MATIS-IMM & Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Via S. Sofia 64, 95127 Catania, Italy
 ⁹ Laboratori Nazionali del Sud, INFN, via S. Sofia 62, 95123 Catania, Italy

¹⁰ Physics Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

¹¹ Department of Physics and Astronomy and Rice Center for Quantum Materials, Rice University, MS 61, Houston, TX 77005, USA

E-mail: rdumke@ntu.edu.sg

Abstract

This roadmap bundles fast developing topics in experimental optical quantum sciences, addressing current challenges as well as potential advances in future research. We have focused on three main areas: quantum assisted high precision measurements, quantum information/simulation, and quantum gases. Quantum assisted high precision measurements are discussed in the first three sections, which review optical clocks, atom interferometry, and optical magnetometry. These fields are already successfully utilized in various applied areas. We will discuss approaches to extend this impact even further. In the quantum information/simulation section, we start with the traditionally successful employed systems based on neutral atoms and ions. In addition the marvelous demonstrations of systems suitable for quantum information is not progressing, unsolved challenges remain and will be discussed. We will also review, as an alternative approach, the utilization of hybrid quantum systems based on superconducting quantum devices and ultracold atoms. Novel developments in atomtronics promise unique access in exploring solid-state systems with ultracold gases and are investigated in depth. The sections discussing the continuously fast-developing quantum gases include a review on dipolar heteronuclear diatomic gases, Rydberg gases, and ultracold plasma. Overall, we have accomplished a roadmap of selected areas undergoing rapid progress in quantum optics, highlighting current advances and future challenges. These exciting developments and vast advances will shape the field of quantum optics in the future.

¹² Guest editor of the roadmap.

Keywords: quantum optical systems, quantum measurements, quantum information, quantum gases, quantum optics

(Some figures may appear in colour only in the online journal)

Contents

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Optical atomic clocks	5
3.	Inertial sensing with cold atoms	7
4.	Optical magnetometers	9
5.	Ion traps as quantum information processors	11
6.	Quantum information processing and quantum simulation with neutral atoms	13
7.	Superconducting atom chips and hybrid quantum systems	15
8.	Atomtronics	17
9.	Ultracold dipolar molecules in optical lattices	19
10.	Cold Rydberg gases	21
11.	Stretching the boundaries of plasma physics with ultracold neutral plasmas	23

1. Introduction

Rainer Dumke^{1, 2}

¹Nanyang Technological University ²National University of Singapore

Quantum optics and optical spectroscopy are at the heart of the advances in experimental quantum science. The rapid developments in this field are marked by several Nobel Prizes in recent history, starting in 1997 when a prize was awarded to Steven Chu, Claude Cohen-Tannoudji, and William D Phillips for the development of methods to cool and trap atoms with laser light [1]. This research area progressed rapidly, leading to a breakthrough in the development of quantum gases by realizing Bose–Einstein condensation [2]. Furthermore, progress in the application of quantum optics has led to tremendous advances in time and frequency standards. Optical atomic clocks are now reaching accuracies in the range of 10^{-18} and will lead to a redefinition of the second in the near future [3]. Advances in atom interferometry have established quantum optical systems in applications for inertial sensing, now with unmatched accuracy. Continuous novel developments in atom interferometry are pushing these boundaries further for applied and fundamental science [4-6]. Record precision is realized with optical magnetometers surpassing superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUID) magnetometers and impending $200 \, \text{aT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ [7]. Due to this unrivalled precision, optical magnetrometry is applied in a wide range of applications, from geology to biology. Overall, applied quantum optics has had a tremendous impact on advanced applications and will continue in the future to disruptively progress many applied fields.

Utilizing the tools developed for quantum optics, we are now able to control individual atomic quantum systems, making these a natural choice for implementing structures for quantum information processing and simulation. Furthermore, atoms are the ideal quantum system since they are nearly noninteracting and, more importantly, are indistinguishable. Based on these advantages, we have witnessed dramatic progress in the application of ultracold atoms and ions in systems for quantum information processing [8, 9, 51]. Further progress of the already achieved advances will finally lead to quantum computers surpassing existing classical computing power for classical hard problems such as factorization, cryptography, and search algorithms. Potentially, hybrid quantum systems could lead to such advances. These systems merge the unique properties of technologically different quantum systems to overcome the obstacles individual systems are facing. Promising candidates for hybridization are ultracold atoms and superconducting quantum circuits [10-12]. On one hand, fast quantum gate operation times have been demonstrated with

superconducting qubits; however, the decoherence time is still limited. On the other hand, the gate operation time of ultracold neutral atoms might be slow compared to the superconducting counterpart, but the coherence time is long. This gives rise to the possibility of combining these two systems into a quantum hybrid where the superconducting structures serve as the processor and the neutral atoms act as the memory.

A different approach to exploring solid-state devices with quantum optical systems is being pursued in the field of atomtronics [13, 14]. Already, Josephson junctions have been realized with ultracold atoms in tailored optical potentials, paving the way to mimicking advanced classical electronic and quantum electronic circuits in a parameter range not accessible by solid-state devices, enlarging the scope of quantum optics and potentially enhancing applications including quantum sensors and quantum metrology [15–17].

Starting with the first reported Bose-Einstein condensate (BEC), research in quantum gases has accelerated. At the forefront of this research are recent developments in dipolar quantum gases [18]. Heteronuclear diatomic ground state molecules can have large dipole moments of several Debye. Trapped in an optical lattice, they have next-neighbour interactions that have led to the exploration of multiparticle physics with well-defined control, leading to a testbed for quantum simulations [19, 20]. Large interactions can be achieved by Rydberg atoms as well, with the dipole moment scaling as n^2 where n is the principal quantum number. The strong dipole interaction in a frozen Rydberg gas gives rise to the Rydberg blockade mechanism [21]. This blockade mechanism piloted a rapid development of cold Rydberg gases applied in quantum information processing, quantum optics, and quantum simulation of strongly correlated many-body systems [22].

Exciting an ultracold gas beyond the Rydberg states creates ultracold plasmas. These plasmas are formed at a parameter regime, due to the extremely low temperatures, where plasma physics in the strongly coupled regime opens the possibility of developing a controllable testbed for exotic plasma, atomic condensed matter, and nuclear/particle physics accessible at moderate timescales [23].

These exciting developments and vast advances will shape the field of quantum optics in the future. Novel insights into fundamental physics as well as progress in applied science, even to device development, will result from these research initiatives and pave the way for key technologies based on quantum technologies in the near future.

This review bundles exciting developments in the study of quantum optics and gives an overview and outlook of potential future directions, with the focus on quantum optical systems research. The roadmap is structured into three main areas: quantum sensors/quantum assisted high precision measurements, quantum information/simulation, and quantum gases. Section 2 describes optical clocks followed by a review in section 3 of atom interferometry. Optical magnetometers are discussed in section 4. The area of quantum information/ simulation is described in the sections 5 and 6, focusing on quantum systems based on ions and neutral atoms. Hybrid

quantum systems are explored in section 7, as well as atomtronics in section 8. Quantum gases are reviewed in the final three sections, starting with an overview of dipolar gases in section 9; Rydberg gases and ultracold plasmas are discussed in sections 10 and 11.

2. Optical atomic clocks

Zehuang Lu

Huazhong University of Science and Technology

Status

Optical atomic clocks have many applications in the definition of the time unit and the length unit, as well as links to other SI units, measurement of fundamental constants and their potential variations with time, testing of relativity, measurement of magnetic fields, very long baseline interferometry, deep space exploration, geodesy, and global navigation satellite systems. A generic optical atomic clock consists of three parts: a reference transition medium, a local oscillator to probe the reference transition (clock laser), and a counting mechanism (optical frequency comb), as shown in figure 1. The original difficulty in counting the very fast oscillation of a clock laser has been successfully solved with the invention of optical frequency combs. With this invention, the development of optical atomic clocks has seen great improvements over the past twenty years, as demonstrated in figure 2.

Currently, there are two possible choices of quantum absorbers that can be used to develop optical atomic clocks. One is based on neutral atoms trapped in optical lattices; the other is based on singly trapped ions in Paul ion traps. Potential choices of optical lattice clocks include Sr, Yb, and Hg, whereas potential choices of single ion species include Al⁺, Hg⁺, Yb⁺, Sr⁺, Ca⁺, In⁺, and Ba⁺. The performance of optical atomic clocks is characterized by their accuracy and stability. The accuracy of optical atomic clocks is limited by how small the reference transition's response is to external perturbations, both of natural origin or man-made. The stability of optical atomic clocks is limited by quantum projection noise, which is proportional to $1/Q\sqrt{N}$. Here, Q is the reference transition quality factor, and N is the number of quantum absorbers involved in the transition. It is generally accepted that optical lattice clocks have better stability due to the larger number of atoms used, whereas single ion optical clocks have better accuracy due to the smaller perturbations experienced in the ion traps. At the moment, the Al^+ ion optical clock has an accuracy of 8.6×10^{-18} and a stability of $2.8 \times 10^{-15} / \sqrt{\tau}$ [24], whereas the Sr optical lattice clock has an accuracy of 6.4 \times 10⁻¹⁸ and a stability of 3.4 \times 10⁻¹⁶/ $\sqrt{\tau}$ [3].

Current and future challenges

With so many potential choices of optical atomic clock available, it is hard to pick the best one. An ideal optical atomic clock reference transition should be very insensitive to external perturbations to improve accuracy, and this transition should have a very narrow natural linewidth so that the Q value is larger to improve stability.

The accuracy of optical atomic clocks can be affected by Doppler shifts, Zeeman shifts, Stark shifts, collision shifts,



Figure 1. A generic optical atomic clock.



Figure 2. Development of optical atomic clocks over the years.

blackbody radiation (BBR) shifts, etc. Careful control of the experimental parameters can minimize or stabilize many of these shifts. The Stark shift due to BBR constitutes one of the largest perturbations to the reference transition frequency, and is also one of the hardest to be evaluated. Among all optical atomic clocks under development now, the Al⁺ optical clock has the smallest BBR shift at a level of 4.0×10^{-19} [25]. For all other optical clock choices, accurate evaluation of the BBR shift requires knowledge of the atomic response to BBR and knowledge of the BBR environment, as given by the temperature. This still remains a current challenge.

To realize the full potential of high Q reference transitions, a long clock laser probing time is required. This places stringent requirements on the phase coherence of clock lasers. This is commonly done by locking a free running clock laser to an ultrastable Fabry-Perot reference cavity through the Pound-Dever-Hall (PDH) technique. The reference cavity is made of ultralow thermal expansion materials, such as ultralow expansion glass (ULE) or Zerodur. The cavity mirrors are coated with dielectric materials with very high reflectivity. The reference cavity has to be placed in a vacuum chamber with the chamber temperature actively stabilized to the mK level. The chamber has to be vibration isolated and acoustically shielded. After doing all these, it turns out that the best clock laser stability one can achieve is a little bit less than 10^{-15} at room temperature with a normal size cavity (around 10 cm long). This is limited by the thermal noise of the reference cavity [26]. How one can lower the thermal noise such that a clock laser stability of 10^{-17} or even lower can be realized is currently a hot research topic.

Finally, the quantum projection noise limit that one hopes to achieve in an optical atomic clock corresponds to fluctuations associated with the interaction process between the quantum absorbers and the photons. This has reached the standard quantum limit (SQL) but not yet the Heisenberg limit. It is a great challenge to come up with an experimental scheme to reach the Heisenberg limit, where the stability of optical atomic clocks is proportional to 1/N instead of $1/\sqrt{N}$.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

To solve the BBR shift problem, one possible solution is to put the whole experimental apparatus into a cryogenic environment. This will put very heavy requirements on the experimental setup, although there has been great progress in this direction [27]. The preferred method is to find BBR shift insensitive electronic transitions, like in Al⁺, or even nuclear transitions. In comparison to electronic states, nuclear states are more immune to external perturbations. One potential choice is the ²²⁹Th nucleus [28]. A long-lived isomeric state of the ²²⁹Th nucleus with suitable optical transition has been suggested. Although the exact transition wavelength has not been measured, it is estimated to be in vacuum in the ultraviolet. The best hope for reaching this wavelength range is through a non-linear wave mixing process in the newly invented KBBF (potassium beryllium fluoroborate) crystal [29].

Thermal noise may be reduced by using longer cavities, or by using larger diameter optical modes. Of course, this would put higher requirements on vibration isolation. Another solution is to keep the reference cavity at cryogenic temperature. At cryogenic temperature, ULE and Zerodur have h.c. of thermal expansion (CTE) than that at room temperature. Thus, the cavity spacer and mirror substrate materials have to be changed to silicon or sapphire. Silicon has zero crossing of CTE at low temperature, whereas sapphire's CTE is proportional to T^4 . After these measures, the dominant thermal noise contribution will be due to the amorphous multilayer mirror coating materials. One way to lower the thermal noise contribution of the coating materials is to directly bond monocrystalline AlGaAs multilayers to the mirror substrates [30]. The much higher Q value of these crystalline layers significantly lowers the coating materials thermal noise contribution.

There exist other methods to solve the thermal noise problem. One method involves replacing the 'good' Fabry–Perot reference cavities with 'bad' cavities [31]. In this case, narrow transition line quantum emitters are placed in a 'bad cavity', the stability of the emitted laser will be minimally affected by the bad cavity fluctuations, including the thermal noise effect. Another method is through spectral hole burning in cryogenically cooled crystals [32]. Here, the clock laser frequency is compared to the spectral holes burned in the absorption spectrum of the crystal, and an error signal is derived to stabilize the clock laser.

Finally, the Heisenberg limit can be approached by using specially prepared quantum states with well-chosen quantum mechanical correlations. Possible choices include entangled states or spin-squeezed states. Preparation of ions or neutral atoms in spin-squeezed states has been demonstrated, and the SQL has been surpassed, although the limit has not yet reached the Heisenberg limit [33].

Concluding remarks

With the rapid development of optical atomic clocks, it is reasonable to think that optical atomic clocks can reach an accuracy level of 1×10^{-18} in the near future. At this level of performance, the intercomparison of optical clocks becomes an issue. This can be solved with optical fiber links. Since the uncertainty of the gravitational potential on the geoid can contribute an uncertainty of 1×10^{-17} to the clock relative frequency, so with this fiber link network, one can also perform optical clock based geodesy. Finally, at the level of 1×10^{-18} , the surface of the Earth is no longer an ideal location to place optical atomic clocks for the ultimate timing accuracy. One might envisage in the future putting our best clocks' in a microgravity environment to serve as our 'Master Clocks'. These 'Master Clocks' will be placed on dedicated satellites with known position and velocity, and ground clocks can then be calibrated through these 'Master Clocks'.

3. Inertial sensing with cold atoms

John Close and Nick Robins

The Australian National University

Status

At their heart, all inertial sensors are based on a freely flying test mass that defines an inertial frame (one where Newton's laws apply) and a measurement system tied to a laboratory frame the acceleration of which we wish to determine. We include rotation and gravity in our definition of acceleration. In an accelerating frame, the measured trajectory of the test mass deviates from that predicted by Newton's laws, and the acceleration of the laboratory frame can be determined.

We consider devices that exploit cold atoms as the test mass. The lab-based measurement system is provided by highly stabilized lasers that manipulate and probe the atoms. The considerations underpinning this design are sound. The quantity that we measure with highest precision is time or frequency, and all high precision measurements should be traced back to a highly stabilized frequency reference or clock. In this case, the 'clock' is the frequency-stabilized lasers that define the optical ruler and stable microwave sources that are used to control the optical ruler.

Cold atom inertial sensors occupy the high precision, high accuracy, low drift, (currently) large form factor, and high cost segment of the inertial sensing technology map. High precision inertial sensors are promising for fundamental science such as for tests of the equivalence principle [4], measurement of the gravitational constant [5, 6], and gravitational wave detection [34]. Precise navigation in GPS denied scenarios, water table monitoring, oil well monitoring, mineral exploration, and possibly carbon sequestration monitoring are promising applications. Determining location in the absence of GPS is relevant in civilian and military contexts and is attracting increasing funding worldwide. All stateof-the-art cold atom inertial sensors realized to date have exploited cold thermal atomic sources (rather than Bosecondensed or atom laser sources) that, at best, operate at the atomic shot noise limit and more usually are limited by classical effects. Although several labs have demonstrated large momentum transfer (wide angle) beam splitting, no state-of-the-art device has exploited this technology to date.

Current and future challenges

In theory, the precision of a cold atom inertial sensor is proportional to the space-time area enclosed by the two arms of the atom interferometer and, in theory, the precision scales as the square root of the product of the atomic flux and the integration time, assuming the device is operating at the atomic shot noise limit.

In practice, current state-of-the-art devices are limited by classical noise and technical effects such as wave front distortion of the beam-splitting lasers coupled with sub-optimal mode matching of the atomic beam to the beam splitters, the Coriolis effect, and vibrational noise, among a host of other effects. Current state-of-the-art devices are not limited by available atomic flux.

The outstanding short-term challenge is to reduce the classical noise that limits current devices, so that we achieve quantum noise limited sensitivity at the highest available atomic flux. Achieving the scaling described above will lead to improved sensitivity and increased bandwidth, which will enable compact, more robust, field-deployable devices with better long-term stability and increased immunity to environmental effects such as temperature drifts, vibration, and DC and AC electromagnetic fields.

The outstanding future challenges are to (i) mitigate the classical effects that currently limit cold atom sensors through the development of new atomic and optical sources, (ii) develop technology that boosts atomic flux and therefore bandwidth and precision, (iii) increase the space-time area dramatically while retaining fringe visibility to improve precision, and (iv) to refine and simplify the techniques and apparatus to further align the sensors with field-ready applications. A secondary, more blue-sky future challenge is to develop and assess the application of atomic squeezing to improve measurement precision [35].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The most pressing immediate concern is to understand, measure, and remove the technical effects that limit the current generation of ultra-high precision atom based inertial sensors.

Recent research suggests that many of the effects that limit the current generation of sensors can be mitigated by upgrading the cold atom source from thermal sources to low number-density, high-flux atom laser sources [35]. It is the brightness, low divergence, spatial mode structure, and the classical amplitude and frequency stability that make optical lasers the source of choice in many precision measurement applications. Atom lasers share many of these coveted properties, and a similar argument can be brought to bear on their application for inertial sensing.

From these considerations, it is reasonable to expect that atom laser sources will remove much of the technical noise currently limiting the state-of-the-art [36]. Further development of Bose-condensed sources and the comparison of BECs and thermal inertial sensors (under otherwise identical conditions) is an important direction for the field.

In addition to investigating the use of advanced sources for interferometry, a number of contributions to noise will still need to be solved. Challenges include reducing laser phase noise, improving mode quality, and increasing laser power, while improvements to vibration isolation systems are critical in some applications.

Assuming that the technical and classical noise sources currently limiting the state-of-the-art can be removed, then the

long-term challenges in the field come to the fore. In the ideal situation where atom-based inertial sensors are limited by atomic shot noise, the development of technologies to boost atomic flux and squeeze the measurement noise are critical [35].

One such technology is the continuous atom laser [35]. In this device, currently under development, a high flux thermal source of atoms is continuously cooled and Bose-condensed with little or no loss in atom flux, producing a beam of atoms with all the useful classical properties of a lasing source that provides immunity to many sources of technical noise. Advances in laser cooling offer a promising way forward for producing such a device [37]. Although a continuous atom laser may give high signal and reduced susceptibility to classical noise sources, squeezing offers the tantalizing possibility of reducing the fundamental noise limit in an atom interferometer [38]. Metrologically relevant squeezing has yet to be demonstrated, and will only be relevant provided that sources are already at the shot noise limit. Metrologically, squeezing will be useful if it offers the path of least resistance (compared, for example, with increases in flux) to higher precision.

Atom interferometers offer the intriguing opportunity to boost sensitivity through very large momentum transfer (VLMT) beam-splitting. Large momentum transfer beam splitting has been explored by a variety of labs around the world, primarily with thermal sources. In all cases, fringe visibility is observed to decrease as the momentum imparted in the beam-splitting process increases, leading to a loss in sensitivity. No state-of-the-art device has exploited large momentum transfer beam-splitters. The results to date are summarised in figure 3.

The most critical developments for applications will occur in the on-going simplification and refinement of atom interferometer engineering. There is significant scope for improvements in size, weight, long-term stability, and power consumption by applying advances in materials science, vacuum technology, and laser sources.



Figure 3. Fringe visibility for various LMT accelerometer experiments as measured by the peak-to-peak amplitude of a sinusoidal fit to each fringe set. A standard 10 hk Mach–Zehnder (MZ) and both the constant-acceleration Bloch (CAB) and CAB2 pulse sequences used in our labs are displayed. It should be noted that the fringe visibility of the interferometer in reference [50] is zero, as phase noise prevented any phase measurement from being performed. References in this figure refer to those in reference [39]. Reprinted with permission from [39], copyright 2013 American Physical Society.

Concluding remarks

Interest and activity in the field of cold atom inertial sensing is rapidly increasing worldwide, reflecting the great promise these sensors hold for improved fundamental tests in physics and for a range of applications, from inertial navigation to mineral exploration and the monitoring of a variety of largescale fluid flows. The continuous, high-flux, squeezed atom laser is a promising tool to advance this field and a fascinating goal for the community. There are alternative and promising approaches that do not require a continuous-wave atom laser (there is substantial literature on this subject, too broad to review here), and although we have highlighted the promise of the atom laser to inertial sensing, it is important that the field explore a range of approaches.

4. Optical magnetometers

Antoine Weis

University of Fribourg

Status

The accurate measurement of the modulus (or components) of a magnetic field, or, alternatively, the sensitive determination of changes thereof is a challenging metrological task. Precision magnetometric information is key to many precision fundamental physics experiments and for applications spanning from geological prospection and archaeometry to unexploded ordnance detection, and, more recently, biomedical imaging. Optical magnetometers (OM), also known as atomic or optically pumped magnetometers-introduced in the late 1950s—are robust and very versatile instruments that can be used for multiple magnetometric tasks. Their operation principle combines optical preparation and optical readout with magnetic resonance in spin-polarized atomic vapors. OMs have challenged SQUIDs-introduced in the mid-1960s -for many years in terms of sensitivity. The so-called SERF (spin-exchange relaxation-free) variant of optical magnetometry was demonstrated to break the 1 $fT/Hz^{1/2}$ limit in 2003 [7] and now approaches the $200 \text{ aT/Hz}^{1/2}$ level.

Early OMs were operated by using resonance radiation produced by spectral discharge lamps. The past 20 years have witnessed the development of a wealth of novel OM methods and applications owing to the use of laser radiation. Solidstate diode lasers in particular offer the advantage of being compact, tunable, and relatively low-cost. Further benefits are their lower power consumption (compared to lamps), their capability to modulate their frequency/intensity up to the microwave range and the fact that laser radiation can be easily carried over long distances by optical fibers, allowing positioning of the actual sensors at remote locations from the light source.

Sensitivity is only one characteristic OM parameter, other (often mutually exclusive) properties being accuracy, bandwidth, dynamic range, scalar versus vector information, quasi-static versus RF field detection, heading errors, orientation dead zones, weight, volume, and power consumption. Developing OMs with optimized parameter combinations is an ongoing challenge, which, for laboratory-installed magnetometers operated in a magnetic shield and portable OMs operated in an unshielded environment, often pose complementary parameter requirements.

Reference [40] gives an excellent compact review of the field and a more comprehensive review of the contemporary state-of-the-art of OM methods and applications was published in 2013 [41].

Current and future challenges

Pushing the current sensitivities further below the current fT level is not a major future issue, among others, because there is no natural or man-made environment on Earth that is 'magnetically quiet' at that level. Although OMs can detect field changes in the lower fT range, their absolute accuracy may be in the upper pT range. For many fundamental physics applications, OM accuracy paired with high sensitivity is a neglected issue that needs further future attention [42].

Future research issues and challenges lie in the development of light-weight portable OMs and in combining sensors into arrays for biomedical imaging, field mapping, material research, and large-scale prospection. The single-beam M_x magnetometer, for example, requires only a few μW of resonant laser power, so that a single diode laser can drive hundreds of remote sensors.

Laser-driven multichannel OM systems have been used to record dynamic maps of the human magnetocardiographic (MCG) [43] and magnetoencephalographic (MEG) field [44]. SQUID-based MCG has been around for some decades and there is hope that further developments of OM-based MCG, recently extended to fetal MCG signals [45] (see also figure 4), will pave the way for the acceptance of MCG diagnostics by clinical practitioners.

Microfabricated OM sensors—each including its own laser—have emerged in the past decade and show promising applications for magnetic source localization in MEG by multisensor recordings [41]. In terms of spatial resolution (albeit at the cost of magnetometric sensitivity), the emerging OMs based on nitrogen vacancy centers in diamond (with atom-like magneto-optical properties) promise a great future [46].

OMs have further allowed nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) detection [41] to be extended towards substantially lower fields (frequencies), bypassing the decreased efficiency of conventional pick-up coil detectors. Ultralow field magnetic resonance imaging (ULF-MRI) employing OMs is rapidly developing, yielding already impressive images [47] (figure 5). Functionalized magnetic nanoparticles (MNP) are being developed for targeted drug delivery in cancer therapy. The MNPs' superparamagnetism makes OM ideally suited for monitoring the distribution of bound MNPs in biological tissues (using magnetorelaxometry, MRX, [48]) or AC susceptometry (ACS, [114]) for their mapping in biological fluids.

Finally OMs play an import role in fundamental physics experiments, such as in the search for a neutron electric dipole moment [115], or for the Earth-based detection of cosmic-scale structured axion fields [116].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The development of novel OMs and their applications goes hand in hand with technological advances, the rapid progress in diode laser technology being one prominent example. Multisensor and portable OM applications will profit from further progress in diode lasers with improved passive frequency and amplitude stability.

Data acquisition and processing is an issue that will take advantage from advances in digital signal processing



Figure 4. Measurement of the magnetocardiogram from a 25 week gestation fetus by using a four-channel OM array. (Figure courtesy of T Walker, University of Wisconsin).



Figure 5. ULF-MRI brain images obtained with OM: 3 mm in-plane resolution; 5 mm slice thickness; depths from the top to bottom and left to right 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 mm; \approx 100 mm field of view; 13 min scan time; 450 ms prepolarization time; 100 ms acquisition time. (Reproduced with permission from [47]. Copyright 2013, AIP Publishing LLC).

electronics. Because of the OMs' signal/noise ratio, which is in the order of one million, high resolution (20 bit or larger) fast ADCs and multichannel phase-sensitive detectors (lockin amplifiers) in combination with digital filters and feedback algorithms laid out in digital circuitry (for example, fieldprogrammable gate arrays, digital signal processors, and general-purpose computing graphics processing units) are prerequisites for the real-time parallelized operation and readout of the magnetometers. Technological progress in microelectronic-mechanical systems will have a direct impact on OM sensor miniaturization, a sub-field that successfully addresses specific applications [41, 45].

Ensuring long-lived atomic spin coherence is key to optimizing magnetometer performance. It is achieved either by adding suitable buffer gas(es) to the atomic vapor or by applying suitable depolarization-preventing coatings to the sensor cell walls [41]. Buffer gas cells suffer from depolarization by field inhomogeneities and thus work well in small volume sensors, whereas coated cells effectively average out odd field gradients, thus leading to the best-performing roomtemperature magnetometers. Buffer gas cells are relatively easy to produce and are available commercially, whereas high performance coated cells can currently not be purchased. Considering the growing number of emerging OM applications, one can anticipate a future need for coated cells, and the development of coating methods suitable for large-scale industrial manufacture is an open challenge.

An often neglected aspect of high performance magnetometry is the stability of the applied magnetic field. Note, for example, that taking full advantage of a 10 fT-resolving OM operated in a 10 μ T field needs a coil current with a relative stability of 10⁻⁹, a performance that is not reached by commercial current sources. Conversely, an OM referenced to an atomic clock may be used as an ultrastable current source, an aspect that has not been given much attention so far.

Concluding remarks

Some 60 years after their introduction, optical magnetometers have received a new boost due to the use of laser radiation. The field is in full bloom and one can expect in the next decade a consolidation of recently introduced methods and the development of exciting new approaches extending the range of OM applications, in particular in the fields of material characterization (NMR, MRX, ACS) and biomedical imaging (MCG, MEG, ULF-MRI, MRX, ACS). The growing interdisciplinary potential of performing OMs will lead to a growing number of hybrid applications (such as magnetic resonance or magnetic particle imaging), in which OMs are central components of more complex systems. Although most recent developments deal with laboratory magnetometry, it is to be expected that novel portable multisensor applications for terrestrial, under water, airborne, or space applications will make their appearance soon.

5. Ion traps as quantum information processors

Manas Mukherjee

National University of Singapore

Status

In 1994, Peter Shor developed a new number factoring algorithm [49] based on quantum mechanics and in the same year Artur Ekert [9] introduced the basics of computing based on quantum mechanics to the atomic physics community, kickstarting experimental activities in the field of quantum information processing using atoms. A year later, Cirac and Zoller came up with a concrete proposal to implement the ideas of basic quantum computing by using trapped ions in their seminal paper [50]. Quantum information processing (QIP) consists of two broad technologies sharing common hardware as depicted in figure 6(a): computation as in figure 6(b)and communication as in figure 6(c). Since 1995, different experimental groups around the world have implemented proof-of-principle level QIP, namely rudimentary quantum algorithms, large-scale (14 qubit) entanglement generations, quantum teleportation, etc, with relatively high degrees of fidelity. Despite such strides in deterministic QIP with trapped ions, realistic problem solving requires even higher fidelity (error per gate operation $<10^{-4}$ for fault tolerant operation) and more importantly scalability [9]. As technology advances to address these problems, already existing technologies provide opportunities to explore quantum simulation, quantum metrology, and related applications in sensors [51]. Realistic quantum computers where computing with even a hundred qubits will surpass existing classical computing power in solving factorization problems, cryptography, database searches, etc, will be possible in the near future. The communication aspect, though started a bit later [52], could catch up to provide commanding experimental proof of its potential [9]. An experimentally demonstrated basic building block is a node that transfers the quantum state of trapped ions (as a computation qubit or memory) to photons (so-called flying qubits) and vice versa. In achieving such, one requires a high-finesse cavity surrounding the trapped ion for deterministic transfer or it can also be transferred in a heralded fashion without having the cavity, as shown in figure 6(c). Forming a cavity and a single trapped ion in the strong coupling regime, which is needed for deterministic transfer, is still a challenge [9]. The ultimate goal of quantum communication is to faithfully transfer a quantum state between two or more distant locations, aiming to establish a communication network and even a quantum internet [9].

Current and future challenges

Moving forward from a few qubit operations and implementation of rudimentary gates towards a fully functional quantum computer requires high *fidelity* gate operations and *scalability* of the ion trap technology. Fidelity, in terms of gate operation, means if the gates are operated reversibly



Figure 6. Schematic of quantum information processing (QIP) using trapped ions: (a) a linear ion trap with blade structure and a large ion crystal that forms the hardware for both quantum computation (b) and communication (c). Two ion gates are operated by using individual addressing as in (b) for computation. The heralded communication scheme in (c) can be made deterministic by having a cavity around each ion trap.

(classically it is not possible), how well can one reproduce the initial quantum state after a complete cycle of reversible operation. The higher the fidelity, the lower the error propagation as more and more gate operations are performed starting from an initial state. The fidelities in certain gate operations using trapped ions [53] have now reached 99.99%, which is where fault tolerant computation can just be performed. To have higher fidelity, the gates also need to be faster and simpler in operation so that de-coherence can essentially be neglected during the computation time. Addressing the *scalability* problem to implement a realistic quantum algorithm like the factorization of numbers, which cannot be presently done with any classical algorithm, requires at least hundreds of qubits, which poses a considerable challenge due to an increase in de-coherence or heating rate as the ion number increases. In recent years, a number of different trap technologies have been experimented with, with some success, namely 3D-chip traps, 2D-surface traps, distributed computation schemes, etc. The most promising architecture emerging out is the surface ion trap where the ions are trapped over surface electrodes and, depending on the applied voltages, the ions can be shuttled around the trap region. This allows dedicated sections of ion production, memory, and processor unit and, more importantly, the possibility to scale up [54]. However, due to the reduction in size, these ion traps, unlike the linear ion traps, shows considerably high motional heating rates. Now, we will shortly discuss the challenges posed in the communication sector. Although entanglement between distant ions via flying photons has been demonstrated by using a heralded scheme as shown in figure 6(c), its applicability is limited by state *transfer fidelity* and the probability of that transfer [9]. The ion trap as a memory is rather robust and writing and retrieval of data has been demonstrated with high fidelity, making it a formidable choice for node memory.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Advances in microfabrication technologies along with a better understanding of surface physics is gradually making surface trap technology more robust. As an example, the NIST group [55] reported considerably low heating rates with traps operated after an in situ ion beam cleaning. Similarly, the Innsbruck group utilized the advantage of a silicon-based fabrication technique to make surface traps with low heating rates, provided the impurities are frozen out at low temperature [56]. Another technology that is playing a pivotal role in the advancement of ion trap based QIP, is device integration that integrates optical fibers, micro-lenses, and micro-mirrors within or close to the trapping zone, leading to a high efficiency in the detection of quantum states, thereby reducing the operation and readout time [9]. Moreover, from the communication perspective, integration allows efficient coupling of two quantum systems; namely, the ion and the photon, which has recently been extended to include phonons of the ion oscillator to form modular structures that are scalable [57]. The possible future technologies that are going to play a dominant role in addressing the bottleneck of ion trap QIP can be summarized as (the problems that these technologies are going to address are shown in brackets):

- 1. Microfabrication and surface treatment (scalability)
- 2. Device integration (scalability and fidelity)
- 3. Ion traps and cavities in the strong coupling regime (*fidelity*)
- 4. Theory and experiment on weak probes to reconstruct final states (*scalability* and *fidelity*)
- 5. Holonomic computing (scalability)
- 6. Hybrid systems combining ion trap memory, superconducting processors, and flying photons (*scalability* and *fidelity*)

It is evident that any advancement in (1), (2), (4), and (6) requires diverse expertise, which can be met by collaborative work. One common element that is going to play an important role in both hybrid systems as well as in miniaturized ion traps is cryogenics. In cryogenic environments, it may well be possible to design strong interactions between any pair of ions in a long chain by introducing interactions mediated by a superconducting (SC) wire. In such an architecture, the head



Figure 7. Evolution of QIP strands: quantum computation (left) and quantum communication (right). Only a few of the milestones are shown for clarity with emphasis on the most stringent requirements, namely fidelity (brown) and scalability (blue) for computation. The figure-of-merit in communication is mainly the transfer probability (bold) and fidelity (which has not been significant until recently).

(SC wire) moves instead of the qubits (ions), thereby increasing *coherence time* and *scalability*.

Concluding remarks

Figure 7 summarizes the roadmap of ion trap based QIP that has been followed so far in both computation as well as communication. The field of QIP using trapped ions has just crossed its infancy and is maturing to provide a platform for many diverse applications. In the near future, we expect to see more applications for simulating more complex quantum systems, possible usage as a sensor employing quantum entanglement, and precision metrology. Some of these are already in existence on a small scale, which is bound to be scaled up with the strides being made in the microfabrication of ion traps. On the other hand, in the longer term, it is expected that robust quantum processors will be developed that can possibly perform quantum algorithms with a few hundreds of qubits, thereby challenging the classical intractable algorithms such as number factorization. Unlike in computation technology, communication technology is expected to see faster growth as some of the coupling technology is in an advanced stage to implement devices such as a quantum repeater. However, it is expected that clubbing these devices with systems based on other quantum devices, for example, superconducting qubits and/or photons, will allow optimization of the best of many worlds.

6. Quantum information processing and quantum simulation with neutral atoms

Gerhard Birkl

Technische Universität Darmstadt

Status

Neutral atoms were at the epicenter of the original ('first') quantum revolution: quantum physics was initiated by the investigation of the interaction of light and atomic matter at the beginning of the 20th century. Optical spectroscopy of the internal structure of atoms played a key role in the development of quantum mechanics. Tremendous scientific developments over the following decades have kept the field of atomic quantum physics at the forefront of scientific achievements. Being able to only name a few of the important recent developments here, I would like to mention the development of techniques to control the external degrees of neutral atoms by laser cooling and trapping [1], the experimental achievement of Bose-Einstein condensation in dilute gases generating ultracold atomic matter [2], and the control of individual quantum systems based on the interaction of individual atoms and single photons [58].

A wide range of principles, techniques, and technologies are now available to reliably prepare neutral atom samples ranging in number from exactly one upwards to a few billion, held steady for durations of up to minutes. Manipulation of the internal quantum states, including initialization and detection, are well established and the manipulation of the external degrees of freedom allows for the cooling of atoms to almost absolute zero or the ground states of external trapping potentials. This also has turned out to be an excellent basis for the investigation of quantum information processing and quantum simulation (QIPS) with neutral atoms [8]: the unit of quantum information (quantum bit or qubit) can be encoded reliably in internal and external degrees of freedom. Full control of single-qubit gate operations has been achieved routinely. A number of proposals for two-qubit gate operations have been discussed and several of them implemented. The full set of these developments paves the way for gatemodel quantum processors in the near future. Adding multiparticle quantum systems, such as BECs as a supplementary resource, has opened up an additional branch: analog quantum simulation, already successfully used to experimentally investigate solid-state problems such as the Bose-Hubbard Hamiltonian [59]. Not surprisingly, neutral-atom quantum physics also turns out to play a key role in the 'second' quantum revolution as well: right now, the application of original quantum principles is exerting a disruptive effect on the course of science and technology-quantum technology is at our doorsteps.

Current and future challenges

Although there is a set of major advantages connected to neutral atom quantum information processing, namely the



Figure 8. Roadmap for neutral atom quantum information processing and quantum simulation.

identical properties of all qubits, scalability, and full control of the strength and the temporal profile of interactions between qubits, a number of advances are needed to fully exploit their potential: (1) Based on the successful demonstration of two qubit entanglement [60] and the availability of more than 100 qubits in a single architecture [61], their combination has to be demonstrated in a way to produce massive entanglement throughout the full architecture, including elaborate means of quantifying the degree of entanglement in an efficient fashion. This needs to surpass the limit of tens of qubits, which seem to be accessible as a maximum in single ion chain configurations. (2) The intrinsic identity of atomic qubits has to be complemented by a quantum architecture acting identically on all of the qubits by itself or via a suitable external control that enforces this in a well-defined and stable fashion. (3) Quantum processing architectures able to generate, maintain, and refresh on the order of 10 000 physical qubits and 1 million logical qubits have to be developed and implemented. A sufficiently stable and continuous supply of qubit resources has to be guaranteed. (4) Rydberg-state, collision, cavity, or tunneling-mediated qubit interactions have been proposed (among others) and in part have been implemented in small-scale systems already. Nevertheless, the optimum two-qubit-gate scheme might still not be realized. More work towards optimized and additional approaches is required. (5) The same holds for the development of advanced quantum error correction schemes that are ultimately needed for large-scale processors. (6) Although for neutral atoms scalability to 10000 qubits and beyond within a single qubit register will be possible,

quantum communication with the outside world and between several of these registers will be essential. Here, efficient means of quantum state transfer between atomic qubits on one side and photonic or electronic qubits on the other side have to be demonstrated. Approaches based on cavity quantum electrodynamics (cavity QED) or emerging from the novel field of hybrid quantum systems seem to be very promising, but significant additional developments are needed.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

At the heart of every successful implementation of quantum technology devices in general, as well as quantum information processors specifically, there has to be a well-developed physical architecture and a reliable technological periphery of control circuits to operate the device (figure 9). The central elements of the required experimental techniques and technologies have been demonstrated over recent decades: reliable preparation of atomic quantum systems by the interaction of neutral atoms with electromagnetic fields (electric, magnetic, and laser fields) has generated trapped atomic quantum systems in a wide range of configurations. Full control of the resulting quantum states by the available technology culminated in the demonstration of the best currently available measurement devices: atomic clocks, where devices based on neutral atoms perform a head-to-head race with clocks based on atomic ions, both using the same relevant techniques.

Thus, the basic concepts and technologies for a neutral atom quantum device have been demonstrated very successfully already and the required upgrades can be envisioned as well: for further advancing the field of neutral atom QIPS, the laboratory-scale systems have to be brought to rack-size dimensions, at the same time increasing the number of qubits in operation to a level of 10 000. Already, large-scale and integrated architectures, such as atom chips [62] or microoptical devices [63] for atom manipulation at this scale have been proposed and investigated experimentally. Using a twodimensional register of optically trapped atoms [61] as an example to gain some numbers, a 'qubit RAM' with 40 000 memory sites as the central element of a quantum processing unit (QPU) (see figure 9) can be created on a physical area of 1 mm². Compare this to the available sizes of micro-optical elements, which are in the range of tens of cm² and scaling the number of qubits into the millions gets accessible. On the other hand, major investments are needed to convert these ideas into real devices and bring them into the laboratory and into the hands of 'quantum technicians'. Concerning the control periphery required around this QPU, multichannel laser sources, high quantum efficiency detectors, and versatile



Figure 9. Block diagram of a neutral atom quantum processing unit (QPU), consisting of a 'qubit RAM', expected to contain on the order of 10 000 qubits, embedded in the required control and communication periphery.

control electronics have to be developed, aiming for hands-off operation, a high degree of reliability, and sufficient redundancy.

Concluding remarks

Although being in competition with a number of other physical systems, spanning much of modern physics (for an overview see [64]), the exquisite degree of control at the single quantum level and the unprecedented quality of decoupling from environmental influences, will make neutral atom based quantum technology a key player in the future. For many decades throughout the development of quantum physics, atomic quantum systems have served as a testbed for dramatic advances in the field. Theory and experiment in concert will continue to drive common progress efficiently. Novel concepts, operational principles, and functional building blocks for more complex quantum devices are actively pursued. Small-scale quantum simulators are able to implement problems, which for decades could only be discussed as gedankenexperiments. What do we expect for the near future? Technological progress will allow for a continuously larger number of qubits to be accessed. Scalability, which is one of the strongholds of this approach, will play out towards more advanced quantum information processing and simulation. Soon, the increasing number of qubits available will allow for the implementation of problem sets with sizes surpassing the abilities of classical computation. In parallel, large-scale integration, advanced control periphery, and progress in quantum error correction will help to develop ever more complex quantum processing units as well as networks of QPUs connected via quantum communication protocols.

7. Superconducting atom chips and hybrid quantum systems

Christoph Hufnagel and Rainer Dumke

National University of Singapore

Status

In recent years, microtraps for neutral atoms based on superconductors, i.e., 'superconducting atom chips' have become a subject of intensive research. Motivated by the prediction of extremely low magnetic and thermal noise compared to normal conductors [65], superconducting atom chips have first been implemented in the expectation of improving the coherence of atomic quantum states close to surfaces by several orders of magnitude. This boost in coherence time holds promising expectations for quantum information processing applications. In particular, superconducting atom chips are ideal candidates for the realization of hybrid quantum systems between atomic and superconducting solid-state qubits, merging the fast gate operation times for superconducting qubits with the long coherence times of atomic qubits.

The first experimental realization of superconducting atom chips was shown nearly a decade ago [66], by using Nb and MgB₂ as superconductors. Since then, superconducting traps have been demonstrated by several groups [67]. The first experiments on superconducting atom chips gave encouraging results for future applications. It was shown that superconducting atom traps can routinely be used to produce quantum degenerate gases, a cornerstone in atomic physics [67]. Also, utilizing the peculiar properties of superconductors, trapping structures based on persistent currents and vortex patterns have been investigated, as well as the quantized flux in a superconducting ring [66-68] (see also figure 10). Another major step was the demonstration of long coherence times for atomic qubits. It was confirmed in two experiments that both ground states as well as Rydberg states show extremely long coherence times in cryogenic environments [70]. Furthermore, transitions in Rydberg atoms where coherently driven using a superconducting resonator [71].

These developments are now paving the way towards integration of atomic quantum systems and superconducting circuits. Combining neutral atoms with superconducting qubits will integrate the distinct advantages of the two quantum systems in a single device (see figure 11).

Current and future challenges

The major challenge in this research area remains the coherent coupling of atomic qubit systems with superconducting qubits. Atomic and superconducting qubits have been realized on their own in several experiments and coupling between quantum states is established in both systems separately [72]. However, the hybridization remains a challenging task. To couple both systems, they have to be brought in close vicinity to each other, typically in the range of micrometer distances,



Figure 10. Atoms levitating in a magnetic field generated by a distinct vortex pattern in a superconducting square (indicated by dark blue area). The lower cloud is a reflection of the atomic cloud from the surface.



Figure 11. Vision of a hybrid quantum device: quantum states are processed in a superconducting circuit and stored in an atomic ensemble. The coupling is mediated either directly or via a quantum bus.

which is technically challenging to achieve. Several technologies that are used for the atomic and solid-state experimental setups have to be integrated into one system. Neutral atoms are typically prepared and manipulated with magnetic and optical fields in room-temperature ultra-high vacuum chambers. This situation is in most parts detrimental to solidstate qubits, which work in milli-Kelvin temperature environments with very low cooling power and hence do not allow high optical power. Currently, two approaches are being followed to bring atoms close to milli-Kelvin platforms. One is the optical trapping of atoms along a tapered optical fiber [73] in which the trapping light field is confined to a small range around the fiber. It is expected that with this technique atom-surface distances below 10 micrometers can be realized without significant heating of the cryogenic surface. Another technique uses the magnetic transport of atoms [73]. In this way, heating is circumvented by avoiding light fields. However, using magnetic fields might lead to other challenges in the form of vortices or unwanted shielding currents. Vortices might be trapped in type II superconducting materials or Josephson junctions while applying external magnetic fields, leading to a reduced coherence of the superconducting and atomic qubits caused by magnetic field noise of the vortices. To reduce vortex creation, one has to establish precise control of the field strength and direction or use shielding techniques to protect the superconducting structures.

Furthermore, due to the Meissner effect, magnetic traps deform close to surfaces, leading to spatial magnetic field changes and with this to a potential increase in dephasing of atomic qubit states. This dephasing can be highly suppressed by applying a bias magnetic field and additionally dressing the atoms with an RF field [74].

It has been found that atomic adsorbates on atom chips pose a major problem for the coherent manipulation of atomic quantum states close to cryogenic surfaces [75]. Especially when using highly excited atoms, the inhomogeneous electric field produced by adsorbates strongly suppresses coherence. It has been demonstrated recently that this effect can be attenuated by saturating the surface with adsorbates [75].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The hybridization of atomic and superconducting quantum states will bring considerable advances in technology and fundamental quantum science. New cryogenic experimental setups are being developed to allow the preparation of cold atomic gases in milli-Kelvin environments. These temperatures are typically generated by dilution refrigerators, which need to be adapted in several ways [73]. To manipulate and detect ultracold atoms it is necessary to develop cryostats with sufficient optical access, without introducing heat sources. Also, atomic quantum states are very prone to collisions with residual background gases and hence it is important to create an ultra-high vacuum environment inside the cryostat. In consequence, materials that are used for the construction of

the cryostat have to be selected carefully for their outgassing rate to obtain the lowest background pressures.

Superconducting resonators are the backbone of interfacing atomic with solid-state quantum systems. Typically, the hyperfine ground states of alkali atoms are used as long-lived qubit states. To address these states, the resonance frequency of the resonator has to be precisely controlled, matching the atomic structure. Practically, it is difficult to design a resonator with a fixed resonance that matches exactly the atomic hyperfine splitting. Several techniques to change the fixed resonance frequency of the superconducting resonator without altering the Q-factor have been demonstrated [76].

Although superconducting resonators are operated at cryogenic temperatures, coupling noise due to thermal photons could degrade the quantum state transfer. Robust and thermally insensitive gates have to be developed. Recently, a protocol for thermally occupied resonators was proposed to implement a universal Rydberg quantum gate [77].

In addition to coupling with a bus system, direct coupling mechanisms have been proposed in which the magnetic spin of an atomic ensemble is coupled to a flux qubit. Utilizing the Bose enhancement, strong coupling could be achieved in principle [13].

By integrating these scientific and technological advances in a single experimental setup, hybrid quantum systems become feasible and hold many promises for fundamental science and quantum technologies.

Concluding remarks

Interfaces between distinct quantum systems, so-called hybrid quantum systems, will have many implications in the field of fundamental quantum science as well as in quantum information processing and quantum simulation. Currently, several groups are working towards experimental platforms that combine atomic gases with superconducting circuits. Even though considerable progress has been made in this field, the implementation of a coherent interface between atoms and superconducting circuits still remains a challenge. However, recent demonstrations with superconducting atom chips have shown that atomic and solid-state technologies can be merged into one platform. These developments are extremely encouraging and suggest that the demonstration of simple coherent interfaces between atoms and superconductors are within reach in the near future.

Acknowledgments

This research is supported by the National Research Foundation Singapore under its Competitive Research Programme (CRP Award No. NRFCRP12-2013-03) and the Centre for Quantum Technologies, Singapore.

8. Atomtronics

Luigi Amico^{1, 2} and Malcolm G Boshier³

¹Universita' di Catania ²National University of Singapore ³Los Alamos National Laboratory

Status

Atomtronics is an emerging field seeking to realize atomic circuits exploiting ultracold atoms manipulated in micromagnetic or laser-generated micro-optical circuits [13, 14]. Compared with conventional electronics, the concept of atomtronics has several key aspects. First, current-flows in atomtronic circuits are made of neutrally charged carriers put in motion by applying a 'potential drop' induced by a bias in the chemical potential or by phase imprinting techniques, or by stirring the atomic gas with a laser beam 'tea spoon'. Second, the carriers in the circuit can be of different physical nature, i.e., bosons, fermions, or a mixture of thereof, and with mutual interactions that can be tuned from short to long range, from attractive to repulsive, etc. Finally, quantum coherence is a characteristic trait of the systems harnessed in the circuit.

The typically low decoherence/dissipation rates of cold atom systems and the high controllability and enhanced flexibility of potentials for ultracold matter make atomtronics very attractive for enlarging the scope of existing cold-atom quantum technology [78]. Both technological and fundamental issues in physics can be addressed.

Elementary atomtronic circuits have already been realized, mimicking both conventional electronics such as diodes, PNP junctions [13, 79], and elements of quantum electronics such as Josephson junctions and SQUIDs [15-17]. Atomtronics, however, is not strictly limited to developing electronic-like components: it aims at providing new concepts of quantum devices, integrated in a circuitry that may be of a radically new type. A remarkable impact in the diverse subfields of quantum technology, including quantum metrology, quantum information, and quantum computation, is expected. Indeed, interferometric high precision sensors with matter waves promise a considerable gain in sensitivity compared with the existing solutions (for rotation sensing, in particular, the gaining factor compared with light-based technology can be up to $\sim 10^{10}$, for equal enclosed areas) [83]. New hybrid cold-atom/solid-state systems have been conceived, both to assemble devices with enhanced quantum coherence and to develop a new avenue for the diagnostics of the interfaced systems [81, 82].

With atomic flows and high flexibility in the confinement geometry offered by atomtronics, several problems that cannot even be defined within standard quantum simulator architectures could be addressed [78]. The situation is comparable to the development of solid-state physics: a fruitful avenue in that field is the study of (electronic) current in the system as a response to an external perturbation. With the same logic, key issues in many-body physics, such as frustration effects, topological constraints, quantum Hall edge currents, etc, can be addressed by atomtronics with unprecedented flexibility in parameters.



Figure 12. Upper panel: the atomtronic transistor. Source, gate, and drain wells labeled S, G, and D, respectively, are created with a hybrid magnetic and optical potential. The middle panel is a calculated potential energy density plot whereas the lower panel shows a false color in-trap absorption image of atoms occupying all three wells. An optical density scale is shown below the horizontal axis (from [79]). Lower panels: the DC-atomtronics quantum interference device (AQUID) (b), (c) realized with painted potential techniques (a) (from [17]).

Current and future challenges

Although several proof-of-principle schemes to assemble atomtronic integrated circuits have been carried out, specific protocols to design and benchmark elementary circuits are still under discussion. Flexible-geometry wave guides, matter wave beam splitters, 'inductors', etc, need to be tailored and specific schemes for assembling the conceived circuital elements need to be provided (see [83–85] for recent design approaches). It would be desirable to work out a heuristic approach to the circuitry, leading, for example, to lumped parameter models analogous to conventional electronics.

In metrology, it is certainly interesting to realize structures with extended storage times with concomitant improvement in measurement precision (see figure 13).

Atomtronics has the potential to provide a new platform for quantum signal processing and a new quantum–classical interface. Combining some of the virtues of Josephson junction flux qubits (such as macroscopic quantum coherence) with the advantages of cold atoms (reduced decoherence), 'atomic flux qubits' can open up a new direction in physical implementations of quantum computation. A specific avenue to such goals is to analyze a system of quantum degenerate particles confined in ring-shaped potentials with few localized weak links. Although the emergence of qubit dynamics of clockwise and anticlockwise atomic coherent flows in a mesoscopic ring lattice of BECs has been predicted in realistic situations [86], Rabi oscillations have not yet been observed experimentally. Also, protocols have been provided for tunable ring–ring (qubit–qubit) coupling quantum devices. Quantum gates remain to be devised.



Figure 13. The large storage vertical ring for BECs realized by the Arnold group (average diameter 10 cm). (Reproduced with permission from [80], copyright 2006 by the American Physical Society).

Atomtronics is instrumental for devising new concepts for quantum simulation. Several ramifications can be envisaged. Issues in quantum material science such as topological matter, spin liquids, etc, can be studied by analyzing the flowing current responding to 'potential drops'. Exploiting the power of ultracold gases for studying far-from-equilibrium systems [87], non-equilibrium statistical mechanics, and quench dynamics could be addressed by inspecting the dynamics of atomic flows in different geometries.

It is intriguing to explore physical systems in mesoscopic regimes. Any configuration (compatible with the spatial resolution of the atomtronic circuit) can be studied, in principle. Finally, interfacing cold-atom and solid-state systems in hybrid structures is certainly one of the most interesting avenues to follow. On the one hand, cold atoms could be utilized to diagnose the proximal solid-state/mesoscopic system. On the other hand, the hybrid platform could define quantum circuits with enhanced coherence time, where quantum states are are stored and exchanged between the solid-state and the cold-atom systems [81].

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The accelerating growth of atomtronics is in part due to recent progress in optical microfabrication. This technology allows central issues of cold-atom systems, such as scalability, reconfigurability, and stability, to be feasibly addressed [14]. In many current and envisaged investigations, there is a need to push for further miniaturization of the circuits. The current lower limit here is generically imposed by the diffraction limit of the employed optics. With current technologies, the different confining potentials (in shape and intensities) can be controlled on the micrometer spatial range, achieving a 5% rms smoothness. Going to the sub-micron regime, although challenging, might be accessible in the near future. A milestone in this regime would be to simultaneously optimize laser and vacuum technology as well as optical delivery systems. Even at the current spatial scale, mesoscopic quantum effects could be accessed. In particular, ring-shaped potentials of tens of micrometer radii have great potential both for practical and fundamental research, for instance, as quantum memories and quantum simulators. The scalability of multiple-ring structures will be certainly fostered by tailoring optical potentials beyond the Laguerre–Gauss type (e.g., by employing Bessel–Gauss laser beams). Challenges such as the detection of 'cat states' and the creation of ring– ring interactions are expected to be reduced by modulating the confinement along the ring (or ring lattice) potentials.

For most, if not all, applications, it would be useful to achieve better coherence times (>1 s). For high precision interferometry, higher repetition rates (>1 Hz), with larger thermal/condensed atom numbers (> $10^6/10^9$) with sufficiently low densities are important.

A central issue for creating complex atomtronic integrated circuits is minimizing the operating time of the circuit and speeding up communication among the different circuit elements. Currently, typical timescales are in the ms range, but a thorough analysis of the parameters and physics controlling timescales is still missing. A seemingly feasible perspective, provided by such new quantum technology, is to create schemes in which components and connectors can be changed dynamically in the course of the circuit life [84]. In this context, it would be important to study to what extent chemical potential and other effective 'potential drops' changes can be detected as a function of time.

Finally, novel avenues for diagnostics of the atomtronic system's current state, beyond the current absorption imaging techniques, should be developed. Non-destructive techniques will be particularly useful.

Concluding remarks

Atomtronics is expected to provide novel designs for quantum devices exploiting quantum phenomena such as superposition and entanglement and to extend the scope of quantum simulation. Although the initial inspiration came from existing devices in solid-state electronics, atomtronics has the potential to define a new class of questions and answers in basic science and technology, complementing standard electronics and integrated optics. Prototypes of instruments for sensing, quantum gates, quantum memories functioning with cold-atom currents in ring-shaped architectures, and realizing data busses seem to be accessible short-term goals. An improved understanding of real electronic systems may also be achieved.

It appears very likely that atomtronics will contribute to breakthrough technology developments in the years to come. To enhance the knowledge transfer between basic science and technology and to develop basic science into devices and instruments, it is highly desirable that industrial partners take part in this activity: the melting-pot that historically has been the core arena for scientific progress would thus be realized in this exciting new field.

9. Ultracold dipolar molecules in optical lattices

Kai Dieckmann

National University of Singapore

Status

Gaining quantum control over the physics of dipolar quantum gases is a long standing goal with particular interest for the rich many-body physics in optical lattices. Over recent decades, vast progress has been made with the observation manybody physics phenomena with bosons and fermions. Much of this activity was fueled by tunable, short-range interactions that become available by magnetic field tuning around Feshbach scattering resonances. The dipole-dipole interaction adds to this due to its long-range and non-isotropic nature. This offers the perspective of studying a variety of manybody quantum phenomena by relying on the interaction between particles on different optical lattice sites, for example, in spin-lattice models. The non-isotropic nature of the dipolar interaction has been demonstrated with neutral atoms that have large magnetic dipole moments. Although, in particular, chromium has been successfully studied in bulk traps, neutral atoms do not offer strong enough dipoles for significant nearest-neighbor interactions in lattice geometries. Much stronger dipoles can be realized with Rydberg atoms, where the long-range nature of the interaction has been observed in the form of the Rydberg blockade. Due to the finite lifetime of the excited states such experiments have to be performed on timescales shorter than that of many-body dynamics. Heteronuclear molecules of alkaline atoms in their electronic, vibrational, and chemical ground state offer long lifetimes combined with electric dipole moments of several Debye. This corresponds to non-isotropic nearest-neighbor interactions in optical lattices with typical strengths of hundreds of nano-Kelvin. The dipole interaction in ground-state molecules hence dominates the temperature scale, turning heteronuclear molecules into suitable subjects for the study of dipolar quantum gases.

For the production of ultracold dipolar molecular gases, one approach is to use laser cooling. Direct laser cooling of molecules has been difficult due to the rich internal structure, which leads to a lack of cycling transitions necessary to sustain the cooling process. Nevertheless, tremendous progress has recently been made with selected molecules cooled by multiple laser sources. An already successful approach is to make use of laser-cooled atoms. Using photoassociation is then a comparatively simple way to get small samples of molecules in the dipolar ground state. A much more efficient way to create diatomic molecules is to use magneto-association at a Feshbach scattering resonance. This technique was pioneered first for the homonuclear case and soon after was applied to heteronuclear molecules. As such molecules are created in highly excited vibrational states, they have to be transferred to the dipolar ground state by employing the longknown stimulated Raman adiabatic passage technique (STIRAP, see figure 14). To maintain low temperatures, this



Figure 14. Raman transfer to the electronic and vibrational ground state for LiK molecules. The initial state is a vibrationally highly excited Feshbach molecule in a superposition of hyperfine states of the singlet and triplet ground-state potentials. The transfer to the vibrational ground state of the X¹ Σ potential can be performed via stimulated Raman adiabatic passage (STIRAP), which involves addressing the B¹ Π electronically excited potential, corresponding to the D line of potassium.

typically requires a pair of lasers at wavelengths tens of nanometers apart, with a frequency difference stabilized to better than a kilohertz. This can be achieved by making use of an optical frequency comb or a transfer cavity. For dipolar molecules this technique was first pioneered by experiments resulting in the production of ultracold dipolar molecules of KRb at JILA [18]. After these ground breaking experiments many new experiments using other alkaline combinations with higher dipole moments are on the way. Ground state production by STIRAP was reported for RbCs [88, 89] and more recently for NaK [90].

The experiments on KRb stimulated a broad variety of theoretical work. Studies range from two-body scattering processes of dipolar particles to the many-body quantum physics in optical lattices. For the latter, for example, quantum simulation of spin-lattice models, interlayer pairing, the supersolid phase, topological phenomena in spin–orbit coupled systems, and quantum information with dipolar interaction are envisaged [91, 92].

Current and future challenges

After the achievement of dipolar molecules of KRb, there was tremendous progress in this seminal experiment. To switch on the electric dipole interaction it is necessary to bring the molecule into a superposition of rotational states to break the parity symmetry of the rho-vibrational ground state. This was achieved in two ways: by either employing a strong static electric field, or by driving microwave transitions between the rotational states. Early experiments experienced technical difficulties by relying on electric field electrodes outside the vacuum, which produced limited field homogeneity and charged up the vacuum cell. First, many-body experiments were performed as the molecules were loaded into an optical lattice and spin-exchange interactions between neighboring sites were observed [93]. Soon after the achievement of ground-state KRb, it was realized that the lifetime of KRb molecules is limited due to inelastic chemical decay. This process allows, in a collision between two KRb molecules, Rb₂ and K₂ molecules to be formed. For KRb and most other alkaline combinations of heteronuclear molecules, this reaction is exothermic and leads to the decay of the gas. There is a theoretical prediction that for NaK the reaction would be endothermic, and hence the gas would be stable. However, other theoretical studies point out that, in contrast to atomic gases, where the physics are governed by a few states and sparsely distributed resonances, the number of resonances in molecular scattering is much higher and often scattering resonances are too close to each other to be resolved [94]. This leads to a scattering behavior of molecular gases vastly different from atomic gases even in the ultracold regime, including phenomena such as 'sticky states', which even for NaK could limit the lifetime of the gas.

One theoretically proposed way of avoiding inelastic decay is to investigate lower dimensional trapping geometries. If, for example, in a 2D trap, the dipoles are aligned side by side in a direction transverse to the plane of the trap, the repulsive interaction will suppress inelastic collisions. Theoretically predicted rate constants [95] for such a situation promise several seconds of lifetime at sufficiently high densities. This might prove a useful strategy for molecules such as LiK or LiCs, which have comparatively high dipole moments.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

One first strategy to avoid inelastic decay due to chemical reactions was realized in KRb by loading the atoms into a deep optical lattice before the formation of molecules [93]. After the loading, ground-state molecules were produced by magneto-association of Feshbach molecules and subsequent STIRAP transfer. The absence of tunneling in the deep lattice then mitigates the decay of the gas. The effectiveness of such a loading scheme depends on the resulting filling factor of the lattice with double occupancies of the two atomic species. This is limited by the degree of quantum degeneracy after the cooling. In this context, the achievement of mixtures in a dual Mott insulator state is an interesting development [96] that demonstrates that sufficiently high filling factors of the lattice can be achieved. As bosonic LiK molecules made from two fermionic species exhibit long lifetimes, it might be a possible route to start from a BEC of such molecules, and directly transfer into the Mott insulator in the lattice. Such a step

would create a very good starting point for coherent manipulations of individual molecules.

The pathway of suppressing chemical reactions in lower dimensional traps has further been encouraged by theoretical proposals on many-body physics in such geometries. For example, a staggered arrangement of two-dimensional shallow optical lattice planes with repulsive interaction between dipolar molecules in the planes leads to a stable gas. In this configuration, adjacent molecules experience an attractive interaction and inter-layer pairing and chains are predicted to form in such arrangements [97].

Many new experiments are currently on the way to investigate molecules made of different alkaline combinations. For each experiment and each molecular species employed, it will be important to evaluate the stability and suitability of the gas for the study, in a three-dimensional shallow lattice, where collisions are not suppressed by repulsive dipole–dipole interactions. Another driving force for new experiments is to move towards species with larger mass ratios and hence larger electric dipole moment, e.g., LiCs. This is important to achieve strong interaction effects in spin–lattice type experiments.

First-generation experiments on molecules have dealt with the complexity of cooling a mixture and the technical challenges associated with the STIRAP transfer. As these techniques become more and more mature, new experiments that are underway or have recently been launched can take advantage of improved experimental technologies. A new generation of electric field electrodes inside glass cell vacuum chambers can deliver more homogeneous fields and can be driven to dynamically change the interaction in the gas and hence probe its time-dependent response. Further, existing technologies of quantum gas microscopes can be combined with new experiments on dipolar molecules to attain single site addressability in optical lattices. This is of particular interest in experiments that aim at coherently controlling the state of individual molecules, when used as quantum bits.

Concluding remarks

Ultracold heteronuclear molecules produced in a bottom-up experimental approach are suitable subjects to study the rich physics of dipolar quantum gases in various optical lattice geometries. Seminal experiments on KRb have stimulated broad activity with different molecular species. Such experiments on molecules are at the forefront of further developing the toolbox for controlling and studying quantum matter in its extreme forms.

10. Cold Rydberg gases

Wenhui Li

National University of Singapore

Status

Rydberg atoms [98] with electrons excited to states of high principal quantum number n (usually n > 10) have many exaggerated properties compared to ground-state atoms, and the most fundamental one is their large dipole moments scaling as n^2 , which result in high susceptibilities to external fields and strong long-range interactions between Rydberg atoms, even over macroscopic distances. In an ultracold and dense atomic sample, interactions between Rydberg atoms have energy exceeding that of thermal motion and act over distances longer than the typical inter-atomic separation. This gives rise to strongly correlated systems, such as 'frozen' Rydberg gases and Rydberg excitation blockades.

Cold Rydberg gases were first studied by investigating resonant energy transfer between Rydberg atoms excited from a laser-cooled atomic sample in a magneto-optical trap (MOT) [99]. The observed resonance broadening suggested a 'frozen' Rydberg gas picture, where the transfer process is no longer through two-body collisions as in thermal atomic gases, but rather through interacting simultaneously with many neighboring atoms, since the atoms are essentially stationary on the 1 μ s timescale of a typical experiment.

One of the most important consequences of the strong long-range interaction between Rydberg atoms is the Rydberg excitation blockade [21] (see figure 15), that is, only one Rydberg excitation is allowed within a certain volume of a cold dense atomic sample and any further excitation is blocked due to the energy level shift by interaction. This excitation blockade has far-reaching implications and applications in many different research directions for cold Rydberg gases, including quantum information processing, quantum optics, and quantum simulation of strongly correlated manybody systems.

The first experimental evidence of Rydberg excitation blockades were found in laser-cooled atomic samples, and then in high-density near-degenerate atomic gases; recently, the Rydberg blockade was studied in detail in few-atom systems. All these are summarized in reference [22]. Recent experimental progress of cold Rydberg gases based on Rydberg blockades included making one Rydberg excitation over an entire BEC [100], observation of spatially ordered Rydberg excitation blockades in optical lattices [101], interaction enhanced imaging of Rydberg excitations [102], and nonlinear quantum optics with Rydberg gases [103].

Meanwhile, a rising research direction, different from investigating the interactions between Rydberg atoms, is the experimental and theoretical studies of the interactions of Rydberg electrons with surrounding atoms [100] and among themselves [104].



Figure 15. (a) The energy level shift (solid curve) of two interacting Rydberg atoms as a function of inter-atomic distance, where $|\mathbf{g}\rangle$ is the ground state, and $|\mathbf{r}\rangle$ the Rydberg state. Within the blockade radius R_b , defined by the excitation linewidth Ω (including laser linewidth and Rabi frequency), only one Rydberg excitation is allowed, and any further Rydberg excitation is forbidden. (b) An illustration of Rydberg excitation blockade. The small black dots are ground-state atoms, the red dots are Rydberg excitations, and the green circles indicate the blockade spheres, within which only one Rydberg excitation is possible.

Current and future challenges

While cold Rydberg gases offer many fascinating research opportunities, the main challenges lie in managing the complexity of such systems. Associated with the strong longrange interaction of Rydberg atoms is their large susceptibility to various perturbations from internal and external fields. Moreover, strong interactions comparable to the atomic energy intervals give rise to rich phases of Rydberg gases, but also bring about complicated dynamics, which lead to quick dephasing and even shortened lifetimes.

To take advantage of the scientific potential offered by cold Rydberg gases, careful studies of the parameter space over various parameters must be done to gain insight into all kinds of interaction and dephasing mechanisms, so that proper parameter windows can be chosen and feasible experimental schemes can be devised for applications along different directions. To access and investigate all these regimes, it is necessary to develop and combine techniques addressing three different issues: the preparation of groundstate atomic samples, the production and manipulation of Rydberg states, and the detection of Rydberg excitations.

Developing and improving the experimental abilities to control the linewidth, power, and pulse shape of excitation lasers, as well as the electric and magnetic fields present for atomic samples, will provide the capability of making precise and coherent Rydberg excitations of a high principal quantum number n (up to a few hundred) and a tunable blockade radius, and therefore allow well-defined access to different parameter regimes. Moreover, a key point to advance experiments on cold Rydberg gases is to explore efficient detections of Rydberg excitations through either field ionization, optical imaging, or photon detections. In addition the spectral resolution is of great importance for detection methods to have good spatial and temporal resolution, which can reveal details of the ultrafast dynamics of Rydberg gases. In addition, efforts have to be made, or even new methods have to be created, to combine the well-established experimental techniques of preparing ground-state atomic samples with that of Rydberg excitation and detection described above.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Many experimental advances in spectroscopy, imaging, and cooling and manipulation of individual atoms have been made to meet the challenges of studying cold Rydberg gases, and further developments are underway.

A very useful technique brought into studying cold Rydberg gases is the electromagnetically induced transparency (EIT) via a ladder configuration of a three-level scheme. Not only is EIT a very effective method for optical detection of Rydberg states, but it is also a good way to utilize the strong interactions between Rydberg atoms to generate high optical non-linearity at the single-photon level. Moreover, a non-destructive interaction enhanced imaging technique utilizing the Rydberg blockade effect via EIT has been proposed and realized to optically image Rydberg excitations [102]. Currently, experimental efforts are being made to advance this technique to resolve individual Rydberg excitations, which will make it possible to reveal, in real time, the full spatial and temporal correlations in the dynamics of Rydberg gases.

In addition by optical means, a technique is also being developed that allows imaging Rydberg excitations by spatially projecting ions from field ionization of Rydberg atoms onto microchannel plates (MCP) [105]. This technique can possibly be further advanced to image field-ionized Rydberg electrons. If successfully implemented, this will be a very unique tool to study the density-limited regime of Rydberg gases, where the size of the electronic wave-function becomes comparable to the distance between atoms and the delocalized electrons overlapping with each other over such large distances form a complete new many-body system, unavailable in conventional condensed matter systems.

Apart from detection techniques, advances are also required in preparing ensembles of ground-state atoms and in addressing individual atoms for Rydberg excitations. Two different approaches in such efforts are to scale up singleatom micro-traps to form an atom array and to directly load atoms into optical lattices or other lattice structures. In either approach, it is necessary to have deterministic loading and to further cool atoms down to the ground state of the trapping potential so that any irregularity in the position of the atoms is minimized to reduce the dephasing in the dynamics of the Rydberg gases.

Concluding remarks

Due to the strong long-range tunable interactions of Rydberg atoms and the superior controllability of ultracold atomic gases, cold Rydberg gases might become an ideal system for experimental investigations in quantum simulation, quantum information processing, and quantum optics. At the moment, cold Rydberg gases are still an emerging field where many experimental studies need to be performed to better understand this complex system, and new experimental techniques need to be developed to push further the frontier into totally unexplored regimes. Moreover, detailed and extensive theoretical studies are indispensable for advances in this field. With more and more physicists coming to work on the exciting topics of cold Rydberg gases, experimentally or theoretically, not only will the field flourish, producing many new results and generating new insights and applications, but also there exists the possibility to create physical systems that have not ever been available before for scientific investigation.

11. Stretching the boundaries of plasma physics with ultracold neutral plasmas

Thomas C Killian

Rice University

Status

Plasmas are typically hot ionized gases—at temperatures of 1000 K or more, which are high enough for atomic or molecular collisions to lead to ionization. However, the boundaries of plasma physics have been stretched in the last decade by ultracold neutral plasmas (UCNPs), which have ion temperatures on the order of 1 K and tunable electron temperatures from 1–1000 K [23]. These unusual plasmas are created by photoionizing laser-cooled atomic gases, or in some cases by exciting molecules in a supersonic molecular beam [106].

Research on UNCPs began around 2000, and it grew out of interest in the dynamics of clouds of ultracold atoms excited to high-lying, strongly interacting Rydberg states (see section 10). The initial work was experimental, but it was quickly followed by a large body of theoretical and computational investigations. Experimentally, UCNPs are well diagnosed by charged-particle diagnostics and laser-induced fluorescence of the ions in the plasma [23]. Molecular dynamics simulations and a wide array of hydrodynamics, kinetic, and hybrid theoretical tools have also been applied to describe UCNPs.

Most research on UCNPs falls into one of three areas: exploration of a novel plasma system, leveraging particular properties of UCNPs to demonstrate or study phenomena found in traditional plasmas or explore potential applications, and the study of strongly coupled plasma physics.

UCNPs represent a new type of plasma because of their small size, low temperatures, and creation method. Much attention has focused on the properties and dynamics of these systems, such as understanding the expansion of the plasma into surrounding vacuum, evolution of the ion and electron temperatures, and the creation of Rydberg atoms in the plasma through three-body recombination.

One of the most distinguishing features of UCNPs is the exquisite control and knowledge of the initial plasma conditions, such as the initial density distribution and temperatures of ions and electrons. This has made UCNPs an ideal platform for exploring topics from traditional plasma physics, such as collective modes, the effects of electric and magnetic fields on plasma dynamics, and hydrodynamic and kinetic regimes of plasma behavior. UCNPs display interesting variations on the traditional themes, such as the nature of ion acoustic waves and electron plasma oscillations. They also provide a powerful new window into open problems in plasma physics, such as the crossover regime from hydrodynamic to kinetic behavior.

One of the main drivers of interest in UCNPs is the fact that they enable the study of strongly coupled plasma physics. Strong coupling arises in many fields of physics including



Figure 16. Ultracold neutral plasma creation and imaging. (a) Ultracold neutral plasmas are typically created by photoionizing laser-cooled atoms. Here, strontium atoms are ionized by a laser that passes through an intensity mask to create two plasma hemispheres that expand into each other. A sheet of light resonant with ions in the plasma excites fluorescence, which is imaged with a CCD camera. (b) Spatially, temporally, and spectrally resolved images record plasma dynamics such as the excitation of density waves.

plasma, atomic, condensed matter, and nuclear/particle interactions, and it is associated with phase transitions and the establishment of spatial correlations of particles [107]. For example, these topics are of interest in many-body systems of ultracold molecules (section 9) and Rydberg gases (section 10). Plasmas are strongly coupled when the Coulomb interaction energy between neighboring particles exceeds the thermal energy, characterized by the Coulomb coupling parameter, $\Gamma \ge 1$, where $\Gamma = e^2/4\pi\varepsilon_0 ak_B T$. Here, *T* is the temperature and *a* is the Wigner–Seitz radius, $a = [3/(4\pi n)]^{1/3}$ for density *n*. Ions in UCNPs equilibrate with $\Gamma \sim 2$ –4. Electrons are limited by three-body recombination to $\Gamma < 0.2$ [23].

UCNP ions are strongly coupled at very low density because of their low temperature. This leads to slower plasma timescales compared to solid-density plasmas and allows detailed study of the dynamics. This has enabled discovery of phenomena that occur during equilibration of strongly coupled systems, such as disorder-induced heating and kinetic energy oscillations [23], and has been exploited to study the breakdown of Landau–Spitzer theory for collisional equilibration rates [108].

The field continues to expand into new areas. UCNPs are now also created with femtosecond lasers in atomic beams [109], and from molecules in a supersonic molecular beam [106]. The latter introduces molecular processes such as dissociative recombination. The potential use of UCNPs as sources for bright electron and ion beams, such as in focused ion beam machines [110], is also an active area of research.

UCNP research has broader impact because of the importance of strong coupling in non-neutral plasmas, dusty plasmas, laser-produced high energy density plasmas, and astrophysical environments [111]. This also connects UCNP research to liquid physics and soft condensed matter, in which statistical mechanics models of strongly coupled systems are also important [107]. Similar plasma creation and expansion dynamics are observed in nanoplasmas created by ionization of clusters [112].

Current and future challenges

The greatest challenge in UCNP research is the pursuit of more strongly coupled plasmas. Essentially independent of initial experimental conditions, UCNP ions equilibrate with Coulomb coupling parameter $\Gamma \sim 2-4$, just barely in the liquid-like regime. Particle dynamics change significantly at $\Gamma = 30$ when caging effects set in. Near $\Gamma = 200$, Coulomb systems undergo a first-order phase transition to a solid state. Access to stronger coupling would allow study of collisions, transport, and collective modes across a wide variety of coupling strengths deep into the liquid regime. Theory is difficult for strongly coupled plasmas, so experimental studies are needed.

Many schemes have been proposed to increase the coupling in UCNPs. The limitation in Coulomb coupling arises because of the large potential energy inherent in the random spatial distribution of ions just after plasma creation [114]. Schemes to increase Γ either involve removing ion energy after plasma creation, such as through laser cooling the ions, or pre-correlating the positions of atoms or molecules before ionization to reduce the initial potential energy, such as using an effect called the 'Rydberg blockade' (section 10) to create regularly spaced Rydberg atoms that are then ionized, ionizing atoms in an optical lattice or quantum degenerate Fermi gas, or relying on molecular processes to remove closely spaced pairs of ions in a plasma created from molecules [106].

Phenomena in strongly coupled plasmas that are sensitive to correlations between particles, such as collision rates, transport, and the liquid–solid phase transition, are not captured by hydrodynamic models or tractable kinetic treatments. Full molecular dynamics simulations are required to model these systems. UCNPs have attracted significant interest from computational plasma physicists because modeling UCNPs presents a great challenge for current computational resources. Excellent diagnostics allow detailed comparison of numerical and experimental results.

There are many other frontiers of current and future UCNP research. Experimental investigations of transport and collisional processes in UCNPs are still relatively new, as are studies of molecular UCNPs. The use of UCNPs for bright electron and ion beams could potentially improve the resolution for applications using charged particles for imaging and nanomachining. Plasmas created from multiple atomic species with differing masses are being considered, and these should introduce new collective modes and alter the plasma dynamics. On the theory front, there are efforts to adapt kinetic theories to describe the effects of strong coupling in UCNPs. There is also great opportunity to connect UCNP research more strongly to mainstream plasma physics by leveraging the unique characteristics of UCNPs for further study of collective modes, instabilities, and kinetic and hydrodynamic bulk plasma phenomena.

Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Continued progress in the field will proceed in tandem with developments in many areas. Greater computational power and techniques will improve plasma modeling, which will drive greater scientific understanding and open new questions. Each potential path towards stronger coupling presents its own technical challenges, although they seem surmountable. Improved and less expensive laser sources are bringing laser cooling of plasma ions into reach. The Rydberg blockade effect, gases in optical lattices, and quantum degenerate Fermi gases have never been demonstrated for samples large enough to produce a plasma that could be easily studied with current diagnostics.

Molecular plasmas have opened new opportunities and in many ways simplify creation of UCNPs by circumventing the need for laser cooling. If a molecular system could be found that allowed for optical imaging of the ions, this would allow *in situ* probing of the resulting plasma. Larger plasmas, in terms of physical size and number of particles, would be valuable for applications in charged-particle beams. This would also slow down the plasma expansion, which would allow improved measurement of collisional and transport phenomena.

Concluding remarks

It is difficult to capture all the current trends in UCNP physics in a short paper, and it is impossible to predict the future directions the field will take. But with the continued interplay between experiment, theory, and simulation, it is clear that one should expect many more fundamental discoveries and even some practical applications to come.

References

- Chu S 1998 Nobel Lecture: The manipulation of neutral particles *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **70** 685
 Cohen-Tannoudji C 1998 Nobel Lecture: Manipulating atoms with photons *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **70** 707
 Phillips W D 1998 Nobel Lecture: Laser cooling and trapping
- of neutral atoms *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 70 721
 [2] Cornell E A and Wieman C E 2002 Nobel Lecture: Bose-Einstein condensation in a dilute gas, the first 70 years and
 - some recent experiments *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **74** 875 Ketterle W 2002 Nobel lecture: When atoms behave as waves: Bose-Einstein condensation and the atom laser *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 1131
- [3] Bloom B J, Nicholson T L, Williams J R, Campbell S L, Bishof M, Zhang X, Zhang W, Bromley S L and Ye J 2014 An optical lattice clock with accuracy and stability at the 10–18 level *Nature* 506 71
- [4] Mueller H, Chiow S, Herrmann S, Chu S and Chung K-Y 2008 Atom-Interferometry Tests of the Isotropy of Post-Newtonian Gravity *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **100** 031101
- [5] Fixler J B, Foster G T, McGuirk J M and Kasevich M A 2007 Atom Interferometer Measurement of the Newtonian Constant of Gravity *Science* 315 74–7
- [6] Rosi G, Sorrentino F, Cacciapuoti L, Prevedelli M and Tino G M 2014 Precision measurement of the Newtonian gravitational constant using cold atoms *Nature* 510 518–21
- [7] Kominis I K, Kornack T W, Allred J C and Romalis M V 2003 A subfemtotesla multichannel atomic magnetometer *Nature* 422 596–9
- [8] 2011 *Quantum Inf. Process.* Special issue on 'Neutral Particles' **10** 6
- [9] Wineland D J and Leibfried D 2011 Quantum information processing and metrology with trapped ions *Laser Phys. Lett.* 8 175
 - Northup T E and Blatt R 2014 Quantum information transfer using photons *Nature Photonics* **8** 356
- [10] Cano D, Kasch B, Hattermann H, Kleiner R, Zimmermann C, Koelle D and Fortagh J 2008 Meissner effect in superconducting microtraps *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **101** 183006
- [11] Muller T, Zhang B, Fermani R, Chan K S, Lim M J and Dumke R 2010 Programmable trap geometries with superconducting atom chips *Phys. Rev.* A **81** 053624
- [12] Roux C, Emmert A, Lupascu A, Nirrengarten T, Nogues G, Brune M, Raimond J-M and Haroche S. 2008 Bose-Einstein condensation on a superconducting atom chip *Eur. Phys. Lett* 81 56004
- [13] Seaman B T, Krämer M, Anderson D Z and Holland M J 2007 Atomtronics: ultracold-atom analogs of electronic devices *Phys. Rev.* A 75 023615
- [14] Schlosser M, Tichelmann S, Kruse J and Birkl G 2011 Scalable architecture for quantum information processing with atoms in optical micro-structures *Quantum Inf. Process.* **10** 907
- [15] Ramanathan A, Wright K C, Muniz S R, Zelan M, Hill W T III, Lobb C J, Helmerson K, Phillips W D and Campbell G K 2011 Superflow in a toroidal Bose–Einstein condensate: an atom circuit with a tunable weak link *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **106** 130401
- [16] Eckel S, Lee J G, Jendrzejewski F, Murray N, Clark C W, Lobb C J, Phillips W D, Edwards M and Campbell G K 2014 Hysteresis in a quantized superfluid 'atomtronic' circuit *Nature* 506 200
- [17] Ryu C, Blinova A A, Blackburn P W and Boshier M G 2013 Experimental realization of Josephson junctions for an atom SQUID *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111** 205301
- [18] Ni K K et al 2008 A high phase-space-density gas of polar molecules Science 322 231

- [19] Baranov M, Dobrek Ł, Góral K, Santos L and Lewenstein M 2002 Ultracold dipolar gases–a challenge for experiments and theory *Phys. Scr.* T102 74–81
- Baranov M, Dalmonte M, Pupillo G and Zoller P 2012
 Condensed matter theory of dipolar quantum gases *Chem. Rev.* 112 5012
- [21] Jaksch D, Cirac J I, Zoller P, Rolston S L, Côté R and Lukin M D 2000 Fast quantum gates for neutral atoms *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 85 2208
- [22] Löw R, Weimer H, Nipper J, Balewski J B, Butscher B, Büchler H P and Pfau T 2012 An experimental and theoretical guide to strongly interacting Rydberg gases *J. Phys.* B 45 1
- [23] Killian T C, Pattard T, Pohl T and Rost J M 2007 Ultracold neutral plasmas *Physics Reports* 449 77–130
- [24] Chou C W, Hume D B, Koelemeij J C J, Wineland D J and Rosenband T 2010 Frequency comparison of two highaccuracy Al⁺ optical clocks *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **104** 070802
- [25] Safronova M S, Kozlov M G and Clark C W 2011 Precision calculation of blackbody radiation shifts for optical frequency metrology *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **107** 143006
- [26] Numata K, Kemery A and Camp J 2004 Thermal-noise limit in the frequency stabilization of lasers with rigid cavities *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 93 250602
- [27] Ushijima I, Takamoto M, Das M, Ohkubo T and Katori H 2015 Cryogenic optical lattice clocks *Nat. Photon.* 9 185
- [28] Peik E and Tamm C 2003 Nuclear laser spectroscopy of the 3.5 eV transition in Th-229 Europhys. Lett. 61 181
- [29] Chen C, Wang G, Wang X and Xu Z 2009 Deep-UV nonlinear optical crystal KBe₂BO₃F₂-discovery, growth, optical properties and applications *Appl. Phys.* B 97 9
- [30] Cole G D, Zhang W, Martin M J, Ye J and Aspelmeyer M 2013 Tenfold reduction of Brownian noise in highreflectivity optical coatings *Nat. Photon.* 7 644
- [31] Chen J B 2009 Active optical clock Chinese Sci. Bull. 54 348
- [32] Thorpe M J, Rippe L, Fortier T M, Kirchner M S and Rosenband T 2011 Frequency stabilization to 6×10^{-16} via spectral-hole burning *Nat. Photon.* **5** 688
- [33] Meyer V, Rowe M A, Kielpinski D, Sackett C A, Itano W M, Monroe C and Wineland D J 2001 Experimental demonstration of entanglement-enhanced rotation angle estimation using trapped ions *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 86 5870
- [34] Tino G M et al 2011 Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 43 1901-3
- [35] Robins N P, Altin P A, Debs J E and Close J D 2013 Atom lasers: production, properties and prospects for precision inertial measurement *Phys. Rep.* 529 265
- [36] Hardman K S, Kuhn C C N, McDonald G D, Debs J E, Bennetts S, Close J D and Robins N P 2014 Role of source coherence in atom interferometry *Phys. Rev.* A 89 023626
- [37] Stellmer S, Pasquiou B, Grimm R and Schreck F 2013 Laser cooling to quantum degeneracy *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 110 263003
- [38] Gross C, Zibold T, Nicklas E, Estève J and Oberthaler M 2010 Nonlinear atom interferometer surpasses classical precision limit *Nature* 464 1164–9
- [39] McDonald G, Kuhn C C N, Bennetts S, Debs J E, Hardman K S, Johnsson M, Close J D and Robins N P 2013 80ħk momentum separation with Bloch oscillations in an optically guided atom interferometer *Phys. Rev.* A 88 053620
- [40] Budker D and Romalis M 2007 Optical magnetometry Nat. Phys. 3 227–34
- [41] Budker D and Kimball D F J (ed) 2013 *Optical Magnetometry* (Cambridge University Press)
- [42] Grujić Z D, Koss P A, Bison G and Weis A 2015 A sensitive and accurate atomic magnetometer based on free spin precession *Eur. Phys. J.* D 69 1–10
- [43] Lembke G, Erné S N, Nowak H, Menhorn B, Pasquarelli A and Bison G 2014 Optical multichannel room

temperature magnetic field imaging system for clinical application *Biomed. Opt. Express* **5** 876–81

- [44] Kim K, Begus S, Xia H, Lee S K, Jazbinsek V, Trontelj Z and Romalis M V 2014 Multi-channel atomic magnetometer for magnetoencephalography: a configuration study *NeuroImage* 89 143–51
- [45] Alem O, Sander T H, Mhaskar R, LeBlanc J, Eswaran H, Steinhoff U, Okada Y, Kitching J, Trahms L and Knappe S 2015 Fetal magnetocardiography measurements with an array of microfabricated optically pumped magnetometers *Phys. Med. Biol.* 60 4797–811
- [46] Schirhagl R, Chang K, Loretz M and Degen C L 2014 Nitrogen-vacancy centers in diamond: nanoscale sensors for physics and biology Ann. Rev. Phys. Chem. 65 83–105
- [47] Savukov I and Karaulanov T 2013 Magnetic-resonance imaging of the human brain with an atomic magnetometer *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **103** 043703
- [48] Dolgovskiy V, Lebedev V, Colombo S, Weis A, Michen B, Ackermann-Hirschi L and Petri-Fink A 2015 A quantitative study of particle size effects in the magnetorelaxometry of magnetic nanoparticles using atomic magnetometry J. Mag. Mag. Mat. 379 137–50
- [49] Shor P W 1994 Algorithms for quantum computation: discrete logarithms and factoring *Proc. Ann. Symp. Found. Comput. Sci.* vol 124
- [50] Cirac J I and Zoller P 1995 Quantum computations with cold trapped ions *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 74 4091
- [51] Blatt R and Roos C F 2012 Quantum simulations with trapped ions *Nat. Phys.* 8 277
- [52] Cirac J I, Zoller P, Kimble H J and Mabuchi M 1997 Quantum state transfer and entanglement distribution among distant nodes in a quantum network *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 78 3221–4
- [53] Harty T P, Allcock D T C, Balance C J, Guidoni L, Janacek H A, Linke N M, Stacey D N and Lucas D M 2014 High-fidelity preparation, gates, memory, and readout of a trapped-ion quantum bit *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113** 220501 Benhelm J *et al* 2008 *Nat. Phys.* **4** 463
- [54] Home J P, Hanneke D, Jost J D, Amini J M, Leibfried D and Wineland D J 2009 High-Fidelity Preparation, Gates, Memory, and Readout of a Trapped-Ion Quantum Bit Science 325 1227
- [55] Hite D A et al 2012 100-fold reduction of electric-field noise in an ion trap cleaned with in situ argon-ion-beam bombardment Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 103001
- [56] Niedermayr M, Lakhmanskiy K, Kumph M, Partel S, Edlinger J, Brownnutt M and Blatt R 2014 Cryogenic surface ion trap based on intrinsic silicon *New J. Phys.* 16 113068
- [57] Hucul D, Inlek V, Vittorini G, Crocker C, Debnath S, Clark S M and Monroe C 2015 Modular entanglement of atomic qubits using photons and phonons *Nat. Phys.* 11 37
- [58] Haroche S 2013 Nobel lecture: controlling photons in a box and exploring the quantum to classical boundary *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 85 1083
 - Wineland D J 2013 Nobel lecture: superposition, entanglement, and raising Schrödinger's cat *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 85 1013
- [59] Greiner M, Mandel O, Esslinger T, Hänsch T W and Bloch I 2002 Quantum phase transition from a superfluid to a Mott insulator in a gas of ultracold atoms *Nature* 415 39
- [60] Wilk T, Gaëtan A, Evellin C, Wolters J, Miroshnychenko Y, Grangier P and Browaeys A 2010 Entanglement of two individual neutral atoms using Rydberg blockade *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **104** 010502

Isenhower L, Urban E, Zhang X L, Gill A T, Henage T, Johnson T A, Walker T G and Saffman M 2010 Demonstration of a neutral atom controlled-NOT quantum gate *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **104** 010503

- [61] Dumke R, Volk M, Müther T, Buchkremer F B J, Birkl G and Ertmer W 2002 Micro-optical realization of arrays of selectively addressable dipole traps: a scalable configuration for quantum computation with atomic qubits *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 89 097903
 - Schlosser M et al 2016 submitted
- [62] Hinds E A and Hughes I G 1999 Magnetic atom optics: mirrors, guides, traps, and chips for atoms J. Phys. D 32 R119
 - Folman R, Krüger P, Schmiedmayer J, Denschlag J and Henkel C 2002 Microscopic atom optics: from wires to an atom chip *Adv. At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* **38** 263
 - Reichel J 2002 Microchip traps and Bose–Einstein condensation *Appl. Phys.* B **75** 469 Fortigh L and Zimmermann C 2007 Magnetic microtr
 - Fortàgh J and Zimmermann C 2007 Magnetic microtraps for ultracold atoms *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **79** 235
- [63] Birkl G, Buchkremer F B J, Dumke R and Ertmer W 2001 Atom optics with microfabricated optical elements *Opt. Comm.* 191 67
- [64] Ladd T D, Jelezko F, Laflamme R, Nakamura Y, Monroe C and O'Brien J L 2010 Quantum computers *Nature* 464 45
- [65] Hohenester U, Eiguren A, Scheel S and Hinds E A 2007 Spinflip lifetimes in superconducting atom chips: Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer versus Eliashberg theory *Phys. Rev.* A 76 03316
 - Fermani R, Muller T, Zhang B, Lim M J and Dumke R 2010 Heating rate and spin flip lifetime due to near-field noise in layered superconducting atom chips J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 43 095002
- [66] Nirrengarten T, Quarry A, Roux C, Emmert A, Nogues G, Brune M, Raimond J-M and Haroche S 2006 Realization of a superconducting atom *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 97 200405
 - Mukai T, Hufnagel C, Kasper A, Meno T, Tsukada A, Semba K and Shimizu F 2007 Persistent supercurrent atom chip *Phys. Rev. Lett* **98** 260407
- [67] Cano D, Kasch B, Hattermann H, Kleiner R, Zimmermann C, Koelle D and Fortagh J 2008 Meissner Effect in Superconducting Microtraps *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **101** 183006
 - Minniberger S, Diorico F, Haslinger S, Hufnagel C, Novotny C, Lippok N, Majer J, Koller C, Schneider S and Schmiedmayer J 2014 Magnetic conveyor belt transport of ultracold atoms to a superconducting atomchip *Appl. Phys.* B 116 1017
 - Roux C, Emmert A, Lupascu A, Nirrengarten T, Nogues G, Brune M, Raimond J-M and Haroche S 2008 Bose-Einstein condensation on a superconducting atom chip *Europhys. Lett.* 81 56004
 - Weiss P, Knufinke M, Bernon S, Bothner D, Sárkány L, Zimmermann C, Kleiner R, Koelle D, Fortágh J and Hattermann H 2015 Sensitivity of ultracold atoms to quantized flux in a superconducting *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** 113003
- [68] Dikovsky V, Sokolovsky V, Zhang B, Henkel C and Folman R 2009 Eur. Phys. J. D 51 247
 - Sokolovsky V, Prigozhin L and Dikovsky V Supercond. Sci. Technol. 23 065003
- [69] Bernon S, Hattermann H, Bothner D, Knufinke M, Weiss P, Jessen F, Cano D, Kemmler M, Kleiner R, Koelle D and Fortagh J 2013 Manipulation and coherence of ultra-cold atoms on a superconducting atom chip *Nat. Comm.* 4 2380
 - Hermann-Avigliano C, Celistrino-Terixeira R, Nguyen T L, Cantat-Moltrecht T, Nogues G, Dotsenko I, Gleyzes S, Raimond J M, Haroche S and Brune M 2014 *Phys Rev.* A 90 040502
- [70] Thiele T, Filipp S, Agner J A, Schmutz H, Deiglmayr J, Stammeier M, Allmendinger P, Merkt F and Wallraff A

2014 Manipulating Rydberg atoms close to surfaces at cryogenic temperatures *Phys. Rev.* A **90** 013414

- [71] Majer J et al 2007 Coupling superconducting qubits via a cavity bus Nature 449 443
- [72] Hoffman J E et al 2011 Atoms talking to SQUIDs Rev. Mex. Fis. 5 1
- Jessen F *et al* 2013 Trapping of ultracold atoms in a 3He/4He dilution refrigerator *Appl. Phys. B* **116** 665
- [73] Sárkány L, Weiss P, Hattermann H and Fortágh J 2014 Controlling the magnetic-field sensitivity of atomic-clock states by microwave dressing *Phys. Rev.* A 90 053416
- [74] Chan K S, Siercke M, Hufnagel C and Dumke R 2014 Adsorbate electric fields on a cryogenic atom *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 112 026101
 - Hermann-Avigliano C, Teixeira R C, Nguyen T L, Cantat-Moltrecht T, Nogues G, Dotsenko I, Gleyzes S, Raimond J M, Haroche S and Brune M 2014 Long coherence times for Rydberg qubits on a superconducting atom chip *Phys Rev.* A **90** 040502
- [75] Kim Z et al 2011 Thin-film superconducting resonator tunable to the ground-state hyperfine splitting of ⁸⁷Rb AIP Advances 1 042107
- [76] Sárkány L, Fortágh J and Petrosyan D 2015 ICOLS, Mon-61
- [77] Patton K R and Fischer U R 2013 Hybrid of superconducting quantum interference device and atomic Bose-Einstein condensate: An architecture for quantum information processing *Phys. Rev.* A 87 052303
- [78] Amico L, Osterloh A and Cataliotti F 2005 Quantum many particle systems in ring-shaped optical lattices *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 95 063201
- [79] Caliga S C, Straatsma C J E, A A and Anderson D Z 2013 A matterwave transistor oscillator *New J. Phys.* 18 025010
- [80] Arnold A S, Garvie C S and Riis E 2006 Large magnetic storage ring for Bose-Einstein condensates *Phys. Rev.* A 73 041606(R)
- [81] Bernon S, Hattermann H, Bothner D, Knufinke M, Weiss P, Jessen F, Cano D, Kemmler M, Kleiner R, Koelle D and Fortágh J 2013 Manipulation and coherence of ultra-cold atoms on a superconducting atom chip *Nat. Comm.* 4 2380
- [82] Müller T, Zhang B, Fermani R, Chan K S, Wang Z W, Zhang C B, Lim M J and Dumke R 2010 Trapping of ultracold atoms with the magnetic field of vortices in a thin-film superconducting micro-structure *New J. Phys.* **12** 043016
- [83] Morizot O, Colombe Y, Lorent V, Perrin H and Garraway B M 2006 Ring trap for ultracold atoms *Phys. Rev.* A 74 023617
 - Lesanovsky I and von Klitzing W 2007 Time-averaged adiabatic potentials: versatile matter-wave guides and atom traps *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **99** 083001
 - Loiko Y, Ahufinger V, Menchon-Enrich R, Birkl G and Mompart J 2014 Coherent injecting, extracting, and velocity filtering of neutral atoms in a ring trap via spatial adiabatic passage *Eur. Phys. J.* D **68** 147
- [84] Ryu C and Boshier M G 2015 Integrated coherent matter wave circuits New J. Phys. 17 092002
- [85] Sinuco-León G A, Burrows K A, Arnold A S and Garraway B M 2014 Inductively guided circuits for ultracold dressed atoms *Nat. Comm.* 5 5289
- [86] Amico L, Aghamalyan D, Auksztol P, Crepaz H, Dumke R and Kwek L-C 2014 Superfluid qubit systems with ring shaped optical lattices *Sci. Rep.* 4 4298
 - Aghamalyan D, Cominotti M, Rizzi M, Rossini D, Hekking F, Minguzzi A, Kwek L-C and Amico L 2015 Coherent superposition of current flows in an atomtronic quantum interference *New. J. Phys.* **17** 045023
- [87] Polkovnikov A, Sengupta K, Silva A and Vengalattore M 2011 Colloquium: nonequilibrium dynamics of closed interacting quantum systems *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 83 863

- [88] Debatin M 2013 Creation of ultracold RbCs ground-state molecules *Dissertation for the Degree of Doctor of Science* (Austria, Innsbruck: University of Innsbruck)
 - Takekoshi T, Reichsöllner L, Schindewolf A, Hutson J M, Le Sueur C R, Dulieu O, Ferlaino F, Grimm R and Nägerl H-C 2014 Ultracold dense samples of dipolar RbCs molecules in the rovibrational and hyperfine ground state *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113** 205301
- [89] Molony P K, Gregory P D, Ji Z, Lu B, Köppinger M P, Le Sueur C R, Blackley C L, Hutson J M and Cornish S L 2014 Creation of ultracold 87RbCs molecules in the rovibrational ground state *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113** 255301
- [90] Park J W, Will S A and Zwierlein M W 2015 Ultracold dipolar gas of fermionic (NaK)-Na-23-K-40 molecules in their absolute ground state *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 114 205302
- [91] Baranov M, Dobrek Ł, Góral K, Santos L and Lewenstein M 2002 Ultracold dipolar gases—a challenge for experiments and theory *Phys. Scr.* T102 74–81
- [92] Baranov M, Dalmonte M, Pupillo G and Zoller P 2012 Condensed Matter Theory of dipolar quantum gases *Chem. Rev.* 112 5012
- [93] Yan B, Moses S A, Gadway B, Covey J P, Hazzard K R A, Rey A M, Jin D S and Ye J 2013 Observation of dipolar spin-exchange interactions with lattice-confined polar molecules *Nature* 501 521
- [94] Mayle M, Quéméner G, Ruzic B P and Bohn J L 2013 Scattering of ultracold molecules in the highly resonant regime *Phys. Rev.* A 87 012709
- [95] Julienne P S, Hanna T M and Idziaszek Z 2011 Universal ultracold collision rates for polar molecules of two alkalimetal atoms *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 13 19114
- [96] Sugawa S, Inaba K, Taie S, Yamazaki R, Yamashita M and Takahashi Y 2011 Interaction and filling-induced quantum phases of dual Mott insulators of bosons and fermions *Nat. Phys.* 7 642
- [97] Wang D-W 2007 Quantum phase transitions of polar molecules in bilayer systems *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98 060403
- [98] Gallagher T F 1994 Rydberg Atoms (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press)
- [99] Anderson W R, Veale J R and Gallagher T F 1998 Resonant dipole-dipole energy transfer in a nearly frozen Rydberg gas *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 80 249
- Mourachko I, Comparat D, de Tomasi F, Fioretti A, Nosbaum P, Akulin V M and Pillet P 1998 Many-body effects in a frozen Rydberg gas *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **80** 253
- [100] Balewski J B, Krupp A T, Gaj A, Peter D, Büchler H P, Löw R, Hofferberth S and Pfau T 2013 Coupling a single electron to a Bose–Einstein condensate *Nature* 502 664
- [101] Schauβ P et al 2012 Observation of spatially ordered structures in a two-dimensional Rydberg Nature 491 87
- [102] Günter G, Schempp H, Robert-de-Saint-Vincent M, Gavryusev V, Helmrich S, Hofmann C S, Whitlock S and Weidemüller M 2013 Observing the dynamics of dipolemediated energy transport by interaction-enhanced imaging *Science* 342 954
- [103] Payronel T, Firstenberg O, Liang Q-Y, Hofferberth S, Gorshkov A V, Pohl T, Lukin M D and Vuletić V 2012 Quantum nonlinear optics with single photons enabled by strongly interacting atoms *Nature* 488 57
- [104] Takei N, Sommer C, Genes C, Pupillo G, Goto H, Koyasu K, Chiba H, Weidemüller M and Ohmori K 2015 Direct observation of ultrafast many-body electron dynamics in a strongly-correlated ultracold Rydberg gas arXiv:1504.03635v1
 - Kiffner M, Ceresoli D, Li W and Jaksch D 2016 Quantum mechanical calculation of Rydberg-Rydberg Auger decay rates arXiv:1507.03357

- [105] Schwarzkopf A, Sapiro R E and Raithel G 2011 Imaging spatial correlations of Rydberg excitations in cold atom clouds *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **107** 103001
- [106] Sadeghi H, Kruyen A, Hung J, Gurian J H, Morrison J P, Schulz-Weiling M, Saquet N, Rennick C J and Grant E R 2014 Dissociation and the development of spatial correlation in a molecular ultracold plasma *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** 075001
- [107] Ichimaru S 1982 Strongly coupled plasmas: high-density classical plasmas and degenerate electron liquids *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 54 1017
- [108] Bannasch G, Castro J, McQuillen P, Pohl T and Killian T C 2012 Velocity relaxation in a strongly coupled plasma *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **109** 185008
- [109] Heilmann N, Peatross J B and Bergeson S D 2012 'Ultracold' neutral plasmas at room temperature *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 109 035002
- [110] ten Haaf G, Wouters S H W, van der Geer S B, Vredenbregt E J D and Mutsaers P H A 2014 Performance predictions of a focused ion beam from a laser cooled and compressed atomic beam J. Appl. Phys. 116 244301
- [111] Murillo M S 2004 Strongly coupled plasma physics and high energy density matter *Phys. Plasmas* 11 2964

- [112] Fennel T, Meiwes-Broer K-H, Tiggesbäumker J, Reinhard P-G, Dinh P M and Suraud E 2010 Laserdriven nonlinear cluster dynamics *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 82 1793
- [113] Murillo M S 2001 Using fermi statistics to create strongly coupled ion plasmas in atom traps *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 87 115003
- [114] Colombo S, Lebedev V, Grujic Z D, Dolgovskiy V and Weis A 2016 *M*(*H*) dependence and size distribution of SPIONs measured by atomic magnetometry *Int. J. Magn. Part. Imaging* 2 1604001
- [115] Pendlebury J M et al 2015 Revised experimental upper limit on the electric dipole moment of the neutron Phys. Rev. D 92 092003
 - Knowles P, Bison G, Castagna N, Hofer A, Mtchedlishvili A, Pazgalev A and Weis A 2009 Laser-driven Cs magnetometer arrays for magnetic field measurement and control *Nucl. Instrum. Methods* A **611** 306–9
- [116] Pustelny S *et al* 2013 The Global Network of Optical Magnetometers for Exotic physics (GNOME): A novel scheme to search for physics beyond the Standard Model *Ann. Phys., Lpz.* 525 659–70